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Statement from the Chairman and Chief Executive 
The year 2020 will be long remembered for the widespread impact of the Coronavirus pandemic and for the 
raising of our collective consciousness around social issues such as inequality and inclusiveness, climate change 
and democracy itself. 

Such extraordinary times highlight the critical importance of the services provided by the charities and social 
enterprises that we support.  At the same time, these organisations, and Charity Bank itself, have been 
significantly impacted by the effects of the pandemic.  Fortunately, both the social sector and Charity Bank have 
so far demonstrated resilience, and we can look back with pride on what we have been able to accomplish 
together in this very challenging year. We are also particularly grateful for the extraordinary support of staff, 
volunteers, customers, and all of our other stakeholders. 

Our Charity and Social Enterprise Customers 

During the pandemic and the various lockdowns, many of our customers have seen their sources of income 
significantly reduced, while in many cases the demand for their services has increased due to the pressures that 
the crisis has put upon the population.  These impacts place a strain on organisations’ cash flow and as a result 
many have had difficulty making ends meet, including in the case of many of our borrowers, meeting their loan 
payments.  Charity Bank has continued to support these organisations by providing relief wherever it can. 

In the early stages of the pandemic as many as 25% of our borrowers requested and were granted some form 
of repayment forbearance.  Fortunately, many of these organisations were able to quickly adapt their business 
models and benefit from the various forms of relief available. By summer many were showing signs of 
stabilisation and by year end 60% of these organisations had resumed regular loan repayments. 

Emergency Liquidity Support for the Social Sector 

We have also provided directly or helped to arrange emergency loan funding where increased borrowing was 
a feasible option for organisations.  To this end, our participation in the Resilience and Recovery Loan Fund 
(‘RRLF’) as an intermediary, has enabled many charities and social enterprises to secure much needed funding 
support.  RRLF, operated by Social Investment Business and funded by Big Society Capital and other social 
investors, provides emergency loan funding and small grants to charities and social enterprises for whom such 
combinations of ‘flexible finance’ are a viable solution to the cash flow pressures caused by the crisis.  To date, 
Charity Bank has been the most active intermediary of RRLF, helping to secure approval for 22 emergency loans 
and small grants for more than £10 million.  

Impacts of the Crisis on Charity Bank and our Response 

The COVID-19 pandemic impacted Charity Bank in a number of ways during 2020: 

 Operationally, we needed to transition quickly to remote working; this was a particular challenge to the 
ongoing implementation of a new core IT system which was already underway at the beginning of the year; 

 The abrupt decline in the Bank of England Base Rate to close to zero had the effect of immediately reducing 
top line interest income, our principal source of revenue; 

 The strain of the crisis on our borrowers, resulting in some cases in a need to suspend or delay loan 
repayments, led us to significantly increase our provisions for loan losses; 

 At the outset of the crisis, demand for new loans declined significantly as organisations went into lockdown 
and put new investment projects on hold; 

 Reduced interest income, increased loan loss provisions and slower loan portfolio growth combined to have 
a negative impact on our regulatory capital position, a primary determinant of our ability to provide new 
loan funding to enterprises in need of financing; 

 At the same time, the raising of new capital into Charity Bank became more difficult as trust and foundation 
investors rightly shifted their focus to the provision of emergency support to frontline organisations, while 
other potential new investors became more cautious. 
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Statement from the Chairman and Chief Executive (continued) 
Impacts of the Crisis on Charity Bank and our Response (continued) 

Fortunately, we have been able to respond effectively to many of these pressures: 

 The team transitioned quite smoothly to working from home, with a ‘skeleton’ crew of management and 
staff regularly attending the Tonbridge HQ to ensure the smooth continuation of banking operations; 

 Significantly, the team behind the implementation of our new Aurius core banking system worked 
extraordinarily hard, both from home and in the office, to keep that project on track and culminating in a 
successful go-live of the new system in October; 

 We quickly undertook a comprehensive cost review and implemented extensive reductions and controls to 
mitigate the impact of reduced interest income; 

 In the weeks and months following the Base Rate cuts, we have successfully passed some of these 
reductions on in the form of lower deposit rates, while at the same time maintaining healthy liquidity ratios; 

 Many of our borrowers have stabilised following the initial shocks of the pandemic, and while we continue 
to maintain significantly higher loan loss provisions due to the ongoing uncertainty of recovery from the 
crisis, as of the year-end, this position is much less concerning than was initially expected; 

 New loan demand, which fell off significantly in the second quarter of the year, experienced a resurgence 
in the second half and has continued into the first quarter of 2021; 

 The Banking, Credit and Lending Services teams worked exceptionally hard to process new loan applications 
and disbursements effectively and the successful results of their efforts position us well as we move into 
2021; 

 While in challenging circumstances, our Savings team have adapted admirably to maintain our service to 
existing savers and to grow our deposit book to keep pace with loan demand; 

 However, the surge in new lending also puts increased pressure on our regulatory capital requirements. 
While we have made some encouraging progress, raising sufficient sums of new equity investment will 
remain a key challenge for us if we are to continue to meet the financing requirements of our borrowers at 
such a critical time of need. 

In summary, under extremely difficult conditions, both Charity Bank and our customers have shown 
extraordinary resilience.  As a result, our social and financial performance in 2020 has been much better than 
we initially forecasted around mid-year.  That said, as we write this, the pandemic is continuing; although there 
is also increased hope in the form of the vaccinations now being rolled out.  In this environment of uncertainty, 
we will proceed with caution while continuing to do all that we can to support our customers at a time when 
our society needs their support more than ever before. 

Financial Performance 

 
 

 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Net interest income 4,575 5,095
Other income 592 519

Total income 5,167 5,614

Operating expenses (5,002) (5,228)
Operating profit before unrealised gains and losses and loan loss provisions 165 386

Unrealised gains and (losses) on investments (34) 623
Operating profit before loan loss provisions 131 1,009

Increase in loan loss provisions (610) (198)
Net (loss) profit (479) 811
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Statement from the Chairman and Chief Executive (continued) 
Financial Performance (continued) 

Despite the abrupt drop in the UK Base Rate from 0.75% to 0.10% over the course of a few weeks in March 
2020, we were still able to generate an operating profit for the year before loan loss provisions.  Our operating 
profit from our core savings and lending business for the 2020 financial year (before mark-to-market gains and 
losses and loan loss provisions) was £165k vs £386k in 2019.  A mark-to-market loss of £34k on our portfolio of 
liquid assets during the year compared unfavourably to the significant gain of £623k recorded in 2019. (These 
gains and losses are simply the mark-to-market movements on short term instruments held by the bank 
to meet our liquidity requirements.)  Most significantly, an increase in our provisions for expected loan losses, 
necessitated by the difficult operating and economic environment confronting our borrowers, led to a net loss 
for the year of £479k compared to a profit of £811k in 2019.  

Lending 

Due to the downturn in activity experienced at the outset of the pandemic, new loan approvals and 
disbursements in 2020 were down slightly against 2019 levels.  We disbursed £44m in new loans in 2020 
compared to £50m in 2019.  As a result, our net outstanding loan portfolio stood at £207m at year-end 2020 
compared to £179m at year-end 2019.  Our loans continue to support social change across a range of sectors, 
including housing associations, care homes, sports facilities, schools, community hubs and other social purpose 
organisations. 

New loan approvals for the year were £67m, just short of the £68m achieved in 2019.  This is a rather remarkable 
accomplishment when one considers that in the first half of 2020, due to borrower reticence at the onset of 
COVID-19, new loan approvals were only £18m.  The resurgence in borrower demand in the second half of the 
year, however, resulted in an additional £49m in approvals.  This performance and the momentum we carry 
into 2021 positions us well in a period of ongoing uncertainty. 

 
 
Deposits 

Growth in our lending increases the social impact that our borrowers generate.  This growth would not be 
achievable without our depositors – individuals, charities and businesses that choose to save with Charity Bank 
to help drive social change.  A deposit with Charity Bank is not just an ‘ethical’ option; it is a positive and 
intentional choice that gives our savers the assurance that their funds will only be invested in mission-led 
organisations that are working to improve the world around them. 

Our deposit book grew by 10% in 2020 to £241 million from £219 million at the end of 2019.  This growth was 
despite the temporary withdrawal of certain deposit accounts from our website and interest rate reductions 
across our deposit book in response to the macro-environment. 
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Statement from the Chairman and Chief Executive (continued) 

Capital Planning – growing our shareholder base 

We launched a new capital campaign at the beginning of the year but needed to put this on hold as the 
pandemic prompted us to assess the impacts on the business and therefore our financial forecasts.  This 
exercise was completed in June and we relaunched the capital raising effort in the second half of the year.  In 
September, we were able to complete an incremental investment of £230k by longstanding shareholder, Esmée 
Fairbairn Foundation, bringing the Foundation’s total investment in Charity Bank to £1.1m. As the year ended, 
we had secured approval from three additional investors (one existing and two new shareholders), two have 
completed in the first quarter of 2021. 

A number of significant investor discussions and due diligence processes are ongoing and the attraction of new 
equity investment in Charity Bank remains a top priority as this is an essential component of our continuing 
ability to meet the financing needs of the social sector. 

Social Impact 

The results of our 2020 borrower survey demonstrate how our approach to banking for good continues to 
create social impact.  Our loans help charities and social enterprises in a wide variety of ways.  Typically, 
our loans help our borrowers improve the quality and reach of their services, leave them better placed to 
deliver on their mission and help improve their financial position.  

As COVID-19 has shown us, charities and social enterprises need to have sufficient reserves in place to see them 
through lean periods, as well as sustainable and diverse income streams.  Many of the loans we make enable 
organisations to become more resilient without depleting their reserves. 

 

 
 

Our work this year has been wide and varied, below are just two examples of the support we have been able 
to provide to strengthen, protect and grow the work of charities and social enterprises:  

Second Floor Studios & Arts (SFSA) offers affordable workspaces to artists, designers, 
and other creative businesses. SFSA knew that it needed assets to protect its long-term 
future. So, it took out a £2.7m loan with Charity Bank to purchase and fit out the 
Deptford Foundry. SFSA’s loan repayment costs are now around half of what it would 
be paying in rent. Offering 85 purpose-built studios and workspaces, 110 creatives call 
the Deptford Foundry home. A thriving micro-economy has built up around the project 
and the local community is benefiting, including through skills workshops delivered by 
studio members. 
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Statement from the Chairman and Chief Executive (continued) 
Social Impact (continued) 

When Folkestone Sports Centre Trust found out it would have to close its doors as the 
first lockdown began, overnight, a healthy monthly income of close to £140,000 was 
reduced to nearer £6,000 as activities ceased. We immediately granted the charity a 
repayment holiday on its loan. A further repayment holiday and helping the charity to 
access a loan through the RRLF, means the centre has remained operational and will 
ensure it can resume activities as soon as circumstances allow. 

 

As the pandemic took hold, we also looked at other ways we could support the wider social sector.  This led to 
the rapid roll out of a COVID-19 Resource Hub on our website, which signposts organisations to grant funding 
options and outlines a wide variety of government and other support available.  To date our Resource Hub has 
received more than 50,000 unique visitors. 

Thanks  

Our promise remains to be a bank that enables borrowers, savers, shareholders, and staff to work together to 
create lasting social change in our communities. It is thanks to each of you that we have been able to grow our 
support at this critical time.   

We are enormously grateful to everyone involved with Charity Bank and wish you all well during these 
extraordinary times.  

 

 
 

Alan Hodson     Edward Siegel 
Chairman     Chief Executive  
23rd April 2021       
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Strategic Report  

Financial highlights 

The Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2020 have been prepared in accordance 
with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
Summary financial indicators for 2019 and 2020 are set out below.   

 

   2020    2019 % Increase/
     £'000     £'000 (Decrease)

Balance sheet
Balance sheet total assets 272,823  249,003  9.6% 

Loans and advances to 
customers before impairments

208,037  179,654  15.8% 
What we are about - support and 
finance for charities

Deposits 241,259  218,774  10.3% 
Funded by private individuals, 
companies and charities

Cash and balances at banks
32,110  16,921  89.8% 

Cash and short-term balances with 
other banks

High quality liquid assets 17,775  12,241  45.2% 
As defined under prudential 
regulations

Other investments 13,073  38,649  (66.2%) Investment of our surplus liquidity

Subordinated loan notes 5,827  5,752  1.3% 
From charitable foundations and 
individuals

Called up share capital 12,509  12,373  1.1%
Contributed by Big Society Capital, 
CAF and other charities and trusts

Total shareholders' funds 20,904  21,153  (1.2%)
Representing share capital and 
retained earnings

Total comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year

Net interest income 4,230  4,687  (9.8%)
What we earn from lending and 
interest earned after the cost of our 
funds

Other income 903  1,550  (41.7%)
Fees and commission income, 
commission from RLLF, profit on 
financial assets

Administrative expenses (4,757) (4,987) (4.6%)
Total costs for operating and 
managing the bank

Total comprehensive 
(loss)/profit for the year

(479) 811  (159.1%)

Loan origination and progression

Approvals 67,239  68,147  (1.3%)
Loans approved during the year for 
progression to be drawn down

Committed loans 62,629  48,390  29.4% 
Approved loans on which offers have 
been made to borrowers and are 
available to be drawn
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Financial review (continued) 

 
Charity Bank made a total loss for the year of £0.5 million compared to a profit in 2019 of £0.8 million.  

Charity Bank’s reduced cost of funds was achieved mainly through the competitive pricing of its deposits and 
passing on of the cuts in base rates, which gained momentum in the second half of 2020.    

Balance sheet 

Charity Bank’s gross assets increased by 9.6% (2019: 28.3%) during 2020. 

On the assets side, loans (after impairments) to charities, community groups and social enterprises increased 
by 15.6% (2019: 26.1%), with 76.3% (2019: 72.1%) of the balance sheet being used to make charitable loans. 
We now have a growing pipeline of loans at various stages of our approval and commitment processes and are 
receiving a high level of enquiries. On top of the minimum liquidity reserves that we are required to maintain 
by the Prudential Regulation Authority (the ‘PRA’), we hold a robust level of liquid assets to service our 
expected volume of loan commitments and drawn loan assets in 2021.  

With respect to liabilities, our deposits increased during the year, growing by 10.3% in 2020 (2019: 28.0%). 

We have seen a net lengthening in the maturity profile of our deposit book. The average residual maturity of 
our term deposits remained relatively stable, with a small increase from thirteen months to fourteen months; 
this pattern was mirrored by the average notice period increasing from 32 to 37 days, which reflects growth 
across the longer term 33 to 100 day notice period accounts. A more detailed analysis of our deposits is 
provided in note 19 in the Notes to the Financial Statements. 

Profit and loss 

Our net interest income decreased by 9.8% (2019: 19.0% increase) primarily as a result of the decrease in the 
Bank of England (‘BOE’) base rate during the year.  

Fee income decreased by 8.2% from £514k to £472k (2019: 30.1% increase).  

On the expenditure side, our administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation, decreased by 4.3% from 
£5.23 million to £5.0 million (2019: 6.1% increase). Headcount has been consistent throughout the year. 

There was a £610k impairment charge for loans and non-lending assets (2019: £198k). The increase in 
impairment charge relates to performing loans and impairments on loan commitments, and reflects the 
adverse economic conditions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Whilst estimated expected losses have 
increased, the realised losses remain low. Refer to note 25 for the bad debts recovered and written off during 
the year. 

 

 

  

How the numbers relate 2020 2019

Loans to customers as a proportion of balance 
sheet before impairment

76.3% 72.1%

Deposits as a proportion of balance sheet 88.4% 87.9%
Income yield 2.60% 3.19%
Average cost of funds 0.92% 0.98%
Return on shareholder funds (2.3%) 3.8% 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Loan origination and progression 

Our loan origination activities for the year have decreased slightly from 2019 but have continued to be 
successful, with approvals in the year of £67.2 million, a decrease of 1.3% on the previous year (2019: £68.1 
million, a decrease of 18.0% on 2018). Our undrawn loan commitments of £62.6 million at 31st December 2020 
increased by 29.4% during 2020 (2019: £48.4 million, an increase of 8.0% on 2018). Such commitments consist 
of those transactions where we have made an offer to the borrower, where we are awaiting for the loan 
documentation to be finalised, or where the available loan amount has not been fully drawn down. 

Stakeholder engagement- a section 172 statement 

Charity Bank is owned by, and committed to supporting, the social sector and its Directors take responsibility 
for promoting its success for the benefit of its key stakeholders, which the bank considers to be its 
shareholders, borrowers, depositors, and staff.  

The bank facilitates positive social change across a range of social and environmental issues through the 
financial support we provide to our charity and social enterprise borrowers. We also aim to change the way 
that people think about their money and how it is used; savers and investors are increasingly attracted by the 
idea of their money being used to support positive social change. 

While we have a straightforward loans and savings business model, our brand, culture, sector knowledge and 
reputation set us apart from other lenders. Decisions are therefore taken by directors for the long term with 
the view to building a sustainable business. Our record shows that charities and social enterprises can be 
responsible borrowers and that our due diligence, support and credit processes are effective. Our goal is to 
continue to build on these strong foundations and to become the lender of choice for impact-led organisations 
in the UK. We aim to make the quality of our products, service and support among the best in the banking 
sector. 

Our staff work with our shareholders, savers and borrowers serving communities across the UK. The directors 
and the leadership team seek to provide a working environment in keeping with our ethical approach. Any 
actions by the board will always consider the interests of our staff, that they continue to be treated fairly and 
compassionately and that we maintain robust policies and processes in place to ensure diversity and equality. 
Staff are regularly provided with updates from senior management on the performance of the business and its 
social sector engagement through e-mail newsletters and CEO town hall meetings. Briefings also refer to the 
key financial and economic issues affecting the bank. Charity Bank recognises the importance of its staff, and 
ensures the bank’s culture and the morale of its employees are considered in decision-making committees and 
through the active engagement of the HR function. The bank encourages feedback through surveys and regular 
open communication sessions with senior managers and directors. 

The directors are mindful of our impact on the environment and take positive steps to mitigate the risk of 
climate change through the operation of our business. The bank seeks to manage its relationships with 
suppliers, customers and others with HR, environmental (climate risk) and supplier policies in place which are 
subject to regular review and oversight by board committees. 

With a demonstrated commitment to the social sector and an experienced team of specialists, the directors 
seek to ensure that the company maintains a reputation for high standards of business conduct and that 
regulatory risks and conduct risks are always managed effectively. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Management of Charity Bank 

Unusually for a bank, but in keeping with its former charitable status, Charity Bank’s non-executive members 
of the Board are unpaid. They contribute actively to the oversight of the bank through membership of Board 
committees, supporting and challenging management. Under normal circumstances, they also have direct 
meetings with customers, attend open days and take part in the arrangements we make for our stakeholders 
to visit borrowers every other year. Arrangements such as these have been paused during 2020 owing to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, but it is hoped that they can resume later in 2021. 

Day-to-day management of Charity Bank is delegated by the Board to the Chief Executive, who is supported by 
the executive management team. 

The Chief Executive is an Executive Director. The other members of the executive management team (together 
forming the EXCO) also attend meetings of the Board and its committees as required.  

Risk management at Charity Bank 

Charity Bank operates a three lines of defence approach to risk management. 

First line of defence: Business Management 

The first line of defence is responsible for 
implementation of Charity Bank’s strategy and for 
management of risk throughout the organisation. 
The first line consists of executive committees and 
line management. 

The first line: 

 Has primary responsibility for owning and 
managing the bank’s risks; 

 Defines, operates, and reports on its 
controls; 

 Produces management information and 
reports on risks; and 

 Is responsible for compliance with 
regulation and legislation. 

 

Second line of defence: Risk & Compliance 

The second line of defence has responsibility for 
providing independent oversight and challenge of 
the first line, and may provide guidance on risks as 
required. The Risk & Compliance function is led by 
the Chief Risk Officer (CRO), who reports to the 
CEO and has a dotted reporting line to the Risk 
Committee chair. The CRO, in conjunction with the 
Head of Compliance & MLRO, reports on risks and 
performance against appetite to the Risk 
Committee. As a matter of good governance, the 
Risk & Compliance function is not customer-facing 
and it has no business targets. 

The second line:  

 Designs, interprets, and develops the risk 
appetite framework for the bank; 

 Monitors the business as usual adherence 
to this framework; 

 Advises the board on risk appetite; 
 Supports delivery of regulatory change 

and monitors regulatory developments; 
 Provides challenge, oversight, and 

assurance over the management of risks; 
and 

 Develops and supports the bank’s policies.  
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Risk management at Charity Bank (continued) 

Third line of defence: Internal Audit 

The third line has responsibility for providing 
objective assurance across the Bank of its 
governance, processes, controls, and risk 
management. 

Having regard to Charity Bank’s size and scope, the 
Bank’s internal audit function is performed on an 
outsourced basis by KPMG. KPMG have a direct 
reporting line to the Audit Committee, 
independent of the first and second lines of 
defence, though their day to day liaison with the 
Bank is through the CRO. 

The third line: 

 Conducts independent testing and 
verification of the Bank’s business models, 
controls, processes, and policies; and 

 Provides assurance the Bank’s risk 
management process is functioning as 
designed. 

Committee structure  

Charity Bank is governed by a Board that is empowered to take such steps as are necessary to achieve Charity 
Bank's objectives. These include the making of appropriate arrangements for the sound management of 
Charity Bank's business, with the overall responsibility for day-to-day management delegated to the Chief 
Executive who is authorised to maintain an appropriate management structure.  

The Board delegates some of its powers to the following committees: 

 Audit Committee: responsible for oversight and challenge of the accounting policies and disclosures; 
supervising the issue and integrity of the audited financial statements of Charity Bank and the 
performance of the external auditors including the approval of the annual audit plan; reviewing and 
challenging the overall effectiveness of Charity Bank’s systems, processes and controls; overseeing 
whistleblowing arrangements; and monitoring the performance and reports of the internal audit 
function. 

 Governance Committee: responsible for overseeing good Board and Board committee governance; 
reviewing succession-planning, nominations and the skills mix of non-executive Board members and 
senior executives; and approving remuneration of the executive management and the reward policy 
for other members of staff. 

 Risk Committee: responsible for the oversight of risk management systems, policies and procedures; 
monitoring the operation of the risk management framework; reviewing key risks (including emerging 
risks); overseeing and challenging liquidity and capital adequacy (including regulatory documents such 
as the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (’ICAAP’) and the Internal Liquidity Adequacy 
Assessment Process (’ILAAP’); recommending the setting of risk appetite statements to the Board; 
approving credit, liquidity, market (interest rate) risk and operational risk policies; monitoring financial 
crime and regulatory risks; and setting policy on asset and liability management, interest rate risk and 
exposures to financial counterparties; and for monitoring the work of the Assets and Liabilities 
Committee (‘ALCO’). 

Each of these board committees is chaired by an appropriately-skilled non-executive director. Appropriate 
members of management attend the committees’ meetings, and the committees also spend a portion of their 
meetings in NED-only session. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Committee structure (continued) 

In addition to these sub-committees of the Board, Charity Bank has four executive-level committees.  

 EXCO: responsible for assisting the Chief Executive in the performance of their duties within the 
bounds of their authority, including consideration of business strategy and management, investment 
and financing, risk management and controls, and any other activities required to deliver effective 
management oversight of Charity Bank. Chaired by the Chief Executive and consists of the executive 
management team. 

 Internal Credit Committee (‘ICC’): approves new lending and material variations in terms, and notes 
approvals by members of the senior Credit team based on their delegated authority. The ICC is chaired 
by the Director of Credit and its members include other members of EXCO and the Banking, Credit and 
Lending Services teams. 

 Super Internal Credit Committee (‘SICC’): approves loan transactions where the overall exposure to 
the client is above the ICC’s delegated authority. The SICC is chaired by the Director of Credit and 
consists of members of the ICC plus at least one of the panel of non-executive directors. 

 ALCO: Assists and supports the finance director in the exercise of their executive responsibility in 
regard to the long-term viability and sustainability of the bank’s balance sheet, balance sheet 
management, capital management, strategy, and monitoring performance and risk limits. 

Principal risks and uncertainties 

The Board recognises that Charity Bank’s concentration of lending activities in one sector, its standing as a 
mission-led enterprise and the standards expected of such an entity, and its small size give rise to inherent risk 
and the need to maintain close vigilance over its activities. 

The going concern of Charity Bank’s view on the effects of COVID-19 are disclosed in the Directors’ Report, 
page 23-24. 

In assessing the risk appetite of Charity Bank, the Board considers that Charity Bank is exposed to three types 
of risk: 

 Strategic risk: the risks arising from either the external environment serving to prevent the bank 
realising its strategy, or internally from a poor choice or execution of strategy. 

 Financial risk: the credit, liquidity and interest rate the bank takes in its activities or transactions to 
drive the bank’s financial performance (see pages 14 to 16).  

 Operational risk: the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and 
systems or from external events, and including the incidence of legal risk. 

The Board takes the view that Charity Bank’s principal risks and uncertainties lie in its exposures to: 

 uncertainties in the political and economic environment for the social sector and changes in the 
government’s approach to social policy; 

 credit risk and the concentration risks of that exposure in one sector, with resulting lack of portfolio 
diversification; 

 liquidity risk, particularly the need to fund increases in the loan book with more capital and deposits 
from savers and the mismatch between the tenor of loans and the maturity of its deposits; 

 interest rate mismatches on its assets and liabilities; 
 capital risk; to meet its minimum regulatory capital requirements and to support its future growth 

plans; 
 risk to the bank and its borrowers arising from long-term climate change; and 
 operational risk, particularly in the form of IT & cyber risks, operational resilience, and the key person 

dependencies arising from its small size – these aspects were tested by the COVID-19 pandemic in 
2020. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 

Risk management at Charity Bank is enabled by: 

 Operating a single, simple business model with strong risk governance; 
 Having a risk management framework covering principal risks; 
 Our clearly defined three lines of defence model; 
 Risk management and monitoring to ensure the risk appetite is respected; and 
 Having sufficient human and financial resources, including capital and liquidity, such that we are able 

to survive stress periods whether they be market-wide or specific to the bank. 

The risks to which Charity Bank is exposed are mitigated in various ways as set out below. 

Pandemic risk (financial and operational) 

The COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 has caused considerable change and disruption for Charity Bank and its 
customers.  

We consider that the risks arising out of the pandemic are captured under other risks, namely: 

 Credit risk – the possibility that lending customers’ activities are adversely affected by the pandemic, 
to the extent that they are unable to make loan repayments in full and on time; 

 Capital risk – the possibility that the bank will be unable to raise the capital it requires to meet 
regulatory capital requirements and support future growth; 

 Operational risk – the risk to operational resilience and the continuation of the bank’s activities during 
the pandemic, including risks arising from remote working and risks of staff being unable to come to 
work due to infection or self-isolation; 

 Market/Interest rate risk – the reactions to the pandemic have included monetary policy measures 
and there is an open question of the future potential for negative interest rates; and 

 Political and economic environment risk – the risk to the Bank and its borrowers arising from political 
changes, such as the roll-off of government support schemes. 

As such, we do not classify pandemic risk as a principal risk in and of itself, but a route through which the above 
risks may manifest. 

Political and economic environment risk- including Brexit (strategic and operational) 

An adverse impact from continuing political and economic uncertainty on the bank and social sectors remains 
a risk. Demand for new loans from social sector organisations has so far held up despite a lack of clarity in 
government policy on funding projected shortfalls in health, housing and social care budgets. 

Charity Bank Risk Committee and Board have also considered the impact of Brexit on its operations. As a UK-
based organisation, offering savings and loans accounts to UK resident individuals and organisations, with no 
non-GBP assets or liabilities, Charity Bank’s operational model is not considered to be affected directly by 
Brexit, and to date, no material changes have been noted. It is recognised, however, that Charity Bank may 
experience impacts to its business performance resulting from ongoing changes to the wider UK political and 
economic environment arising from Brexit, and these may affect the behaviour and performance of its savers 
and borrowers. Such economic stresses are modelled and assessed in the capital and liquidity adequacy 
assessments described below. 

Although the Brexit transition period ended on 31 December 2020, to date there have been no substantive 
regulatory changes noted since then. The UK authorities have the discretion to diverge from European rules 
and implementation schedules, which discretion may (or may not) manifest itself in the coming months and 
years. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Credit risk and concentration risk (financial) 

Charity Bank has in place a system to control its exposure to credit risk, including the taking on of new loans in 
line with its Credit Risk Policy and the reporting on and monitoring of its exposure to the risk of financial loss 
from the incidence of credit risk. The setting of credit risk policy is delegated to the Risk Committee in 
accordance with the risk appetite set by the Board. New loans are approved by the Super Internal Credit 
Committee, Internal Credit Committee, or members of the Credit Department in accordance with their 
delegated authority limits. The Risk Committee, the Internal Credit Committee, and the Director of Credit 
monitor the quality of the loan portfolio and any concentrations of risk and trends; review the quality of 
existing loans whose value is impaired or loans where a payment has not been received on its due date from 
the borrower; and consider related reports and management information. 

All loan applications are assessed with reference to Charity Bank’s Credit Risk Appetite and Credit Risk Policy, 
including the use of an internal credit grading model. Wherever possible, Charity Bank takes security in the 
form of a legal charge over fixed property assets of the borrower. In most cases, the secured assets are freehold 
or long-term leasehold property. Credit risk is also managed through continuous engagement with borrowers. 
Charity Bank maintains an expected credit loss (‘ECL’) loan loss impairment for unidentified credit risks as well 
as specific impairments against loans where there is doubt that the bank will recover the full amount 
outstanding. The impairment methodology and key assumptions are reviewed annually by the Risk and Audit 
Committees. The model has been updated during the year to include forward-looking economic scenarios into 
the assumptions, refer to note 2 in the accounting policies for more information. There have been no material 
changes in the Credit Risk Appetite or Credit Risk Policy during the year.  

The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use of models, 
as the exposure varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The 
assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets requires further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults 
and losses occurring. Charity Bank measures credit risk using Probability of Default (‘PD’), Exposure at Default 
(‘EAD’) and Loss Given Default (‘LGD’).  

Charity Bank uses internal credit risk gradings that reflect its assessment of the probability of default of 
individual counterparties. The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases as the credit 
risk (credit grade) reduces. The credit score is reviewed annually and compared to previous credit score in 
assessing whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. 

For the financial assets, any credit risk exposure is mitigated by the high degree of internal diversification within 
any fund and could be mitigated further at an early point by selling out of the relevant fund.  

Open Ended Investment Companies (‘OEIC’) are in the form of units in the Royal London Asset Management’s 
‘Cash Plus Fund’ and ‘Enhanced Cash Plus Fund’ (which invests in cash, deposits, money market instruments 
and short-dated government securities). UK Treasury stock and other approved investments are held within 
Charity Bank’s HQLAs. ALCO approves appropriate limits for these instruments under a framework approved 
by the Risk Committee. Charity Bank follows a low risk policy in relation to its treasury activities and places 
funds only with counterparties with sound external credit ratings.  

The Risk Committee regularly reviews Charity Bank’s exposure to credit risks and its system of internal control.  

Charity Bank is exposed to concentration risk from its remit to lend to social sector organisations (‘SSOs’). 

Charity Bank’s exposure to this risk is mitigated in several ways, including: 

 utilising sector expertise and relevant experience through its staff, its Board members and its advisers; 
 ensuring that all lessons drawn from any loss experience have been incorporated in its credit policy; 

and 
 diversification of exposure within the sector. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Credit risk and concentration risk (financial) (continued) 

In pursuit of this goal, Charity Bank: 

 sets limits on its exposure to its top twenty borrowers as a proportion of its loan book and regulatory 
capital, limits on its aggregate exposure to individual sectors, and a single borrower limit set in relation 
to its regulatory capital 

 makes its credit decisions primarily based on the ability of its borrowers to repay 
 generally requires security over real estate assets as a secondary source of repayment 

As a result of its expertise in and understanding of SSOs, its cautious stance on the maximum ratio of the 
amount of its loan to the value of the related security, and the low volume of unsecured lending that it has 
undertaken, the credit quality of Charity Bank’s loan exposures has remained stable and performed well. 

The Board expects this outcome to continue in future in light of Charity Bank’s system of internal control for 
managing credit risk.  

Liquidity risk (financial) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Charity Bank does not have adequate financial resources, both as to amount and 
quality, to ensure that there is no significant risk that its liabilities cannot be met as they fall due. 

Charity Bank is exposed to the risk of not being able to raise sufficient deposits to fund its growing loan book 
or to meet an unexpectedly high level of deposit withdrawals by customers. This is mitigated by: 

 seeking to maintain a prudent balance of deposits with different maturities by offering term and notice 
deposit products; and 

 attracting personal depositors, charities and clubs, Credit Union and business depositors who are more 
likely to keep their deposits with the bank when they reach maturity (evidenced by the current 87% 
retention rate). 

The ILAAP is a firm’s own internal assessment which evaluates liquidity risk, funding mismatch and the 
management of these risks within Charity Bank. 

The Risk Committee sets and reviews Charity Bank’s appetite for liquidity risk in the liquidity policy, and advises 
the Board accordingly. The expression of appetite and capacity is translated into limits, thresholds and other 
indicators, for example, monitoring a worst-case asset/liability maturity profile. These take into account 
liquidity levels (including short-term cash flow forecasting), and threats to stakeholder value and reputation. 
Appetite is also a determinant in corporate planning and identifying future liquidity requirements.  

Management oversight of liquidity risk is undertaken at ALCO which is responsible for assisting the Finance 
Director to manage financial risks; recommending policies on the investment of capital and liquid resources to 
the Risk Committee; reviewing exposures to interest rate risk and financial counterparty risk; and monitoring 
that management of liquidity and capital meets business and regulatory requirements. 

Risk management and mitigation arrangements are in place through reporting Charity Bank’s exposure to 
liquidity risks by means of key performance indicators, which appear in management information packs for the 
Board and through regular monitoring by the Risk Committee of Charity Bank’s risk profile. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Interest rate risk (financial) 

Interest rate risk refers to the current or prospective risk to a bank’s capital and earnings arising from adverse 
movements in interest rates, which affect exposures in its banking book. 

The Risk Committee sets and reviews Charity Bank’s appetite for interest rate risk and articulates this through 
a policy on Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (‘IRRBB’). The Finance Director is responsible for this policy, 
and the Risk Committee approves it on behalf of the Board. 

The expression of appetite for each type of interest rate risk is translated into appropriate limits and thresholds 
by the ALCO for review and approval by the Risk Committee. 

Regular management oversight of interest rate risk is undertaken through the ALCO.  

EXCO has responsibility for:  

 ensuring that Charity Bank offers the appropriate type and mix of loans and deposits products to its 
customers; and, 

 setting interest rates on Charity Bank’s loans, deposits and loan notes.  

When making decisions in respect of these responsibilities, EXCO considers the impact on Charity Bank’s 
exposure to interest rate risk. 

Risk management and mitigation arrangements are in place through reporting Charity Bank’s exposure to 
interest rate risk by means of key performance indicators in management information packs for the Board and 
through regular monitoring by the Risk Committee of Charity Bank’s risk profile. 

Charity Bank reduces its exposure to interest rate risk by actively managing the maturity buckets of its assets 
and liabilities. In addition, in managing interest rate risks Charity Bank considers the economic impact on its 
capital of a range of non-parallel shift in interest rates and the capacity of its capital to support a range of 
extreme interest rate and balance sheet structural stresses. Charity Bank does not currently use artificial 
hedging instruments such as interest rate derivatives. 

Capital risk (strategic) 

Capital requirements 

Charity Bank is required to hold sufficient capital to meet its minimum regulatory capital requirements at all 
times; and it expects to hold such further amounts to support its growth plans, enable it to withstand adverse 
stress scenarios and continue to meet its Total Capital Requirement (‘TCR’) from the PRA, and provide comfort 
on its resilience to depositors, borrowers, shareholders and other key stakeholders. 

Charity Bank has, throughout 2020, held capital in excess of its requirements. The components of the 
requirements are set out below. 

Capital regulatory framework 

Charity Bank operates under the CRD IV CRR regulatory framework of the European Banking Authority (the 
‘EBA’) as required by its regulators: the FCA and the PRA. 

The prudential regulatory framework applicable to Charity Bank is designed to assess the adequacy of a firm’s 
‘own funds’ (‘Capital Resources’) by considering all material risks to its business, including those not covered 
or otherwise not adequately addressed by credit risk, market risk and operational risk, and the impact of stress 
tests conducted across a variety of different scenarios. Additionally, the regulatory requirements for assessing 
additional risks provide encouragement to firms to develop, operate and continuously improve their risk 
management techniques for monitoring, measuring and managing their specific material risks. 

Charity Bank’s Capital Resources requirement is split into two categories: the Pillar 1 Capital Resources 
Requirement (‘Pillar 1’) being the sum of the credit risk capital requirement, the market risk capital 
requirement and the operational risk capital requirement; and the Pillar 2 Capital Resources Requirement 
(‘Pillar 2A and Pillar 2B’) which includes assessments for liquidity risk, concentration risk, earnings risk, interest 
rate risk, business risk, buffer requirements and an internal view of the effect of selected stress events. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Capital risk (strategic) (continued) 

Capital regulatory framework (continued) 

There are two stages to determining the final level of Pillar 2: the first being the analysis and conclusions in 
Charity Bank’s own ICAAP assessment, and the second being the PRA’s expression of its view which takes 
account of its oversight of Charity Bank and the results of its supervisory review meetings with Charity Bank. 

The ICAAP is a firm’s own internal assessment of the overall adequacy of its capital strength in the context of 
the material risks it has identified and of the outcome of the assessment of stress scenarios it has identified 
and quantified having regard to regulatory guidance. The ICAAP process also includes the identification and 
evaluation of the impact of appropriate stress conditions, which are sets of sensitivities and scenarios designed 
to show the ability of Charity Bank to continue to meet its capital requirements under adverse (firm-specific 
and/or market-wide) conditions. 

A review meeting is part of a regular supervisory review and evaluation process conducted by the PRA in order 
both to review and evaluate a firm’s ICAAP processes and documentation, and to assess the quality of the 
firm’s risk management systems and internal controls. Based on this, the PRA makes its own determination of 
the capital adequacy of the firm and sets a minimum capital requirement for the firm through the issue of its 
‘total capital requirement’. 

Pillar 1 

The Pillar 1 capital requirement is the sum of the credit risk capital requirement, market risk capital 
requirement and the operational risk capital requirement. Under Pillar 1 Charity Bank calculates its credit risk 
requirement using the ‘standardised approach’ and its operational risk requirement in accordance with ‘the 
basic indicator approach’. Under CRD IV, Charity Bank must hold total capital equal to 8% of its total risk-
weighted assets to cover its Pillar 1 capital requirements. Capital requirements for operational risk are based 
on a percentage of average gross profits in the preceding years. 

Pillar 2A  

The Pillar 2A capital requirement is set by the PRA as part of its supervisory review and evaluation process 
(SREP) and covers additional risks not deemed to be included appropriately within the Pillar 1 capital 
requirement.  

Charity Bank’s internal assessment of its Pillar 2A capital requirement includes assessments for liquidity risk, 
concentration risk, interest rate risk in the non-trading book and business risk. 

Pillar 2B 

The Pillar 2B capital requirement reflects the amount of additional capital required under the Combined Buffer 
Requirement (being the aggregate of the Capital Conservation Buffer and the Countercyclical Capital Buffer) in 
addition to a further individual buffer set by the PRA. 

Pillar 2B also includes an internal assessment of capital stresses, which articulates Charity Bank’s own view of 
the potential impact on its capital of varying stress events.  

Charity Bank’s risk-weighted assets, leverage exposure and capital ratios at the year-end were as follows: 

 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Risk-weighted assets 156,719 141,784 
Leverage exposure 278,583 253,690 

CRD IV capital ratios % %
CET1 ratio 12.45 13.63
Leverage ratio 7.00 7.62
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Capital risk (strategic) (continued) 

Pillar 2B (continued) 

The Capital Equity Tier 1 (‘CET1’) ratio measures a banks CET1 capital against its risk weighted assets. The 
leverage ratio is a non-risk-based ratio which aims to ensure that a bank’s assets are in line with its capital 
levels. For Charity Bank the leverage ratio is defined as Tier 1 capital as a percentage of total assets before 
impairments (including a percentage of on and off-balance sheet exposures). 

For Charity Bank, the leverage exposure is defined as being total assets plus 10% of its committed loan offers. 

Further details of Charity Bank’s capital resources are provided in note 28 in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements and also in annual Pillar 3 public disclosures which are unaudited and available on our website at: 
www.charitybank.org 

Climate risk (operational and financial) 

The Board recognises the significant impact that climate change could have on the economic and political 
landscape and seeks to ensure that financial risks arising from climate change are considered in its 
governance arrangements, risk management policies, scenario analysis and disclosure arrangements. 

Charity Bank recognises climate risk as encompassing: 

 Physical risk – the risk of adverse impact to the Bank from climate-related or weather-related events. 
These events might include droughts, extended periods of high temperature, floods, storms, or rises 
in sea level. Events of this sort could result in large financial losses to the bank’s lending customers, 
adversely affecting their creditworthiness. They could also impair the value of assets pledged to the 
bank as security. 

 Transition risk – risks arising from wider society’s adjustment towards an economy with lower 
carbon dioxide emissions. This could include wider policy changes as well as public sentiment or 
technological development. This type of risk may result in a reassessment of the value of some 
assets, which may create or amplify credit exposures for lenders. 

As an ethical bank, Charity Bank is mindful of its own impact on the environment and takes positive steps to 
mitigate climate change through the operation of its head office (reuse and recycling arrangements, use of 
local suppliers, etc) and its staff travel arrangements (encouraging use of public transport). As a tenant in a 
multi occupied building it is not practicable for the bank to obtain or provide details of the greenhouse gas 
emissions from its operations, although it seeks to minimise its own footprint by sourcing electricity from a 
green energy provider. The environmental policy encourages staff to consider such risks that are within its 
control in its day to day business activities and its supplier selection processes. 

Charity Bank will, through its lending business, seek to be supportive of borrowers’ climate change mitigation 
activities where it is consistent with the bank’s social impact objectives and its credit policies. In terms of 
Responsible Investment, Charity Bank is aware of the need to consider Environmental, Social and Governance 
issues and that, where practical given Charity Bank’s size, these are considered alongside traditional financial 
measures in investment decision-making.  

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss or reputational damage arising from failed or inadequate processes, systems, 
and people, or from external suppliers and events. 

Our risk management framework and operational risk review processes identify, measure, and monitor these 
risks. Risk champions in each department of the bank maintain risk registers and detail the controls in effect to 
remove or mitigate the risks. 

Charity Bank uses the basic indicator approach to assess our capital requirement for operational risk. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Other risks 

We also consider the following as risks to Charity Bank and its operations. 

Conduct risk (operational) 

Conduct risk arises where there is the potential for a poor customer outcome at any stage of the customer 
journey, such as through inappropriate execution of Charity Bank’s activities and processes. Examples include 
breaches of conduct rules, poor staff behaviours, or poor culture, causing detriment to the Bank, its staff, or 
its customers. 

Charity Bank manages conduct risk by encouraging appropriate behaviours and compliance with FCA 
regulations, as well as focusing on ensuring everything we do has customers’ interests in mind. 

Additionally, unknown legacy conduct issues may emerge. Regulation relating to the fair treatment of 
customers continues to be a focus in the financial services industry. The interpretation of fair treatment can 
evolve as time progresses, and the decisions of today may be judged by the standards of tomorrow. 

Market risk (financial) 

Market risk is the risk to the bank’s value or profits from adverse movements in external markets, such as 
changes in investment values or currency rates. 

At Charity Bank, we do not operate any proprietary trading activities. All of the Bank’s assets and liabilities are 
denominated in sterling; as such we have no exposure to foreign exchange risk.  

Key person dependencies (strategic) 

Whilst its exposure is mitigated by Charity Bank’s business model, the identification of staff with its mission, its 
supportive internal culture, and a strengthened focus of management on communication and transparency in 
staff relations, this risk will continue to be a challenge for a bank of its size. Hence Charity Bank draws on 
approved contract staff as well as specialist advice from external parties to supplement its own resources from 
time to time; it can and does recruit new staff from the wider financial services industry and in doing so can 
benefit from the appeal of its mission. 

Cyber risk & information security (operational) 

Like all banks, Charity Bank relies on computer systems to operate its business, and stores customer and 
business data. We invest in our cyber and information security infrastructure to improve services, protect 
customer data, and minimise the risk of disruption. As we do not offer online account servicing, we are less at 
risk than other banks in this space but we continue to enhance the control environment having regard to the 
changing cyber landscape and reliance on home working. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Emerging risks 

Charity Bank regularly considers emerging risks to its business, and where management and the Board consider 
appropriate, will add them to the principal risks above. Based on management’s current views and 
assessments, risks considered as emerging risks include: 

 People and operational risks arising from remote working 
 Changes in customer behaviour 
 Model risk 
 Digitalisation 

The board also recognises that reputational risk, which could have a damaging impact on Charity Bank’s 
operations and franchise, might arise as a secondary risk from any one of its primary risk taking activities. 

 

Approved by the Board of Directors on 23rd April 2021 and signed on its behalf. 

 

 
Alan Hodson 
Chairman 
The Charity Bank Limited 
Fosse House 
182 High Street 
Tonbridge 
Kent TN9 1BE 
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Directors’ Report 
Introduction 
Charity Bank is authorised by the PRA as a deposit-taking institution under the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 (as amended by the Financial Services Act 2012), and is regulated by the FCA and the PRA. It was 
established in 2002 with a mission to lend to charities, community organisations and social enterprises, and in 
particular to those that find it difficult to secure funding from the traditional banking sector, with the support 
of investors and depositors who want to encourage more responsible and transparent use of their money. 

Charity Bank uses financial leverage to create social leverage in the community. Since 2002, Charity Bank’s 
innovative approach to lending and its mission to benefit society have enabled it to lend over £350 million 
worth of loans to hundreds of social sector organisations across the UK with Charity Bank operating solely in 
the UK. It has well-established processes and controls over both the advancing of loans and the taking of 
deposits developed by its executive management team under the strategic direction of its board of Directors 
(the ‘Board’). 

Charity Bank has experienced a low rate of loss on its loans since its foundation. 

Given the stresses being faced by the social sector, Charity Bank continues to exercise close vigilance over the 
quality of exposures within its existing portfolio. 

The Board believes Charity Bank will see continued demand for its lending into the social sector organisations 
as they continue to respond to the needs of their communities emerging from the Covid crisis. The Board is 
confident that Charity Bank is well-placed to respond to this demand, given its track-record of innovation, its 
public reputation, and its growing strength as an institution. 

This Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2020 have been prepared in in 
accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006. 

Share capital, reserves and dividends 

As at the Balance Sheet date, Charity Bank had issued 25,017,314 ordinary shares; it also has the ability to issue 
additional ordinary shares and ‘B’ and ‘C’ preference shares, all of £0.50 each. 

Although the Articles of Association permit payment of a dividend to shareholders at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors, no dividend has been declared (2019: £nil). 

Substantial shareholdings 

As at 31st December 2020 Charity Bank was aware of the following substantial holdings in its ordinary share 
capital: 

 

Shareholder name

Ordinary 
number of 

shares

Percentage of 
issued ordinary 

share capital

Percentage 
of voting 

rights
The Big Society Capital Limited 15,782,935 63.09% 49.99%
CAF Nominees Ltd - beneficial owner Charities Aid Foundation 4,000,011 15.99% 21.66%



The Charity Bank Limited ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2020 

22 
 

 

Directors’ Report (continued) 
Directors  

The directors of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial 
statements were: 

 
Two shareholders are entitled to nominate Non-Executive Directors for appointment to the Board under the 
agreements Charity Bank entered into in relation to the making of the investment by Big Society Capital in its 
ordinary shares. These individuals are defined in our Articles of Association as ‘Connected Directors’. 

Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulation. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with international accounting standards in 
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Name of Director Chair and Senior Independent Director positions
held

Alan Hodson Chairman of the Board & Chairman of the 
Governance Committee (from 23rd September 2020)

8/8

Jonathan Britton OBE Chair of the Audit Committee (from 30th June 2020) 3/3
Robin Budenberg CBE Senior Independent Director & Chairman of the 

Governance Committee (to 22nd September 2020)
5/6

Michael Crabb Non-Executive Director 7/8

Malcolm Elliott Executive Director (to 31st December 2020) 8/8

David Godfrey CBE Senior Independent Director & Chairman of the Risk 
Committee

8/8

Neil Heslop OBE CAF-Connected Non-Executive Director (from 16th 
December 2020)

1/1

Sara Llewellin Non-Executive Director (to 30th June 2020) 5/5

Sir John Low CBE CAF-Connected Non-Executive Director (to 1st 
October 2020)

6/6

Caroline Price Non-Executive Director (from 22nd September 2020) 2/2

Charlotte Ravenscroft Non-Executive Director (from 30th June 2020) 3/3

Kate Sayer Chair of the Audit Committee (to 30th June 2020) 1/5

Anna Shiel BSC-Connected Non-Executive Director 7/8

Edward Siegel Executive Director 8/8

Toby Walter BSC-Connected Non-Executive Director 8/8

No. of meetings 
attended during 2020
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements (continued) 

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that 
period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to: 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

 state whether applicable international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements; 

 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the company will continue in business. 

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Directors’ confirmations 

In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved: 

 so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors 
are unaware; and 

 they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of 
that information. 

Going concern 

The Board of Directors have determined that these financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis 
and that Charity Bank will have the ability to operate for at least 12 months from the date these financial 
statements are approved. 

In making this determination the Directors have assessed a number of projections, risks to and inherent 
strengths of the Bank including:  

 The Bank’s financial projections from 2021 to 2025; 
 The results of capital forecasts together with the results of the ICAAP, the Bank’s Capital Supervisory 

Review and its track record of raising new CET1 capital in 2020 and 2021; 
 Reviews of the Bank’s funding and liquidity demands including the results of the ILAAP and its track 

record of being able to raise deposits during 2020; 
 The availability of liquidity support facilities provided by the Bank of England; 
 The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the move to a very low interest rate environment, 

on the Bank’s revenues and ECL; 
 The continued effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Bank’s business operations and its ability to 

lend and to raise deposits; 
 Operational resilience with respect to the Bank’s ability to work remotely and ability to serve its 

customers; and 
 The resilience of the Bank’s customers during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
Going concern (continued) 

The Directors remain confident in Charity Bank’s ability to execute its business plan and raise capital if 
necessary, for the following reasons:  

 The Bank has maintained a regulatory capital surplus well above its risk appetite throughout the stress 
of the pandemic in 2020.  For 2021, business and capital forecasts show profitability before provisions 
and adequate capital maintained in both projected and stressed conditions.  Additionally, the Bank 
has available management actions that will further preserve capital under stress.  It has also been able 
to raise capital in 2020 and 2021 to support continued lending growth. 

 Despite the economic stresses of 2020, the Bank has been able to raise deposits and maintain its 
various liquidity ratios above its risk appetite.  This has been helped by favourable behaviour of our 
customers during the COVID-Stresses of 2020, who have continued their relationships with the Bank.  
While it is not envisaged that in either projected or stressed conditions that behaviour will change 
during the next 12 months, the Bank has available platforms with which it could raise further deposits 
if required. 

 The business operations of the Bank have remained resilient to the impacts of the pandemic. There 
has been continued ability to process loan applications and drawdowns, and to attract and process 
new deposits. Future growth is assured due to both the £49m of lending approvals in the second half 
of 2020, and the Bank’s current pipeline of new loan applications. 

 COVID-19 lockdowns have led to a significant change in work patterns with most staff now working 
from home. This new way of working has become second nature and the Bank does not see the 
continued pandemic as impacting on operational resilience. 

 The Bank has a unique customer base of charities and social enterprises. During the pandemic, these 
customers have largely shown to be resilient to the economic impacts of COVID-19 and related 
restrictions. Nonetheless, the Bank holds significant provisions for estimated expected loan losses, 
reflecting forward-looking economic scenarios. 

Internal control 

The Board of Directors manages the risks to which Charity Bank is exposed through a system of internal controls 
that has the following main elements: 

 the setting of policies by the Board for the key activities of the bank and its management of risks, and 
the review and oversight by the Board of the practices of the executive management team in applying 
them; 

 the delegation of authority by the Board to its Committees and to the Chief Executive; 
 an internal organisational structure characterised by functional separation of activities and decision-

making; 
 executive decision-making through EXCO chaired by the Chief Executive, the Internal Credit 

Committee chaired by the Director of Credit, and ALCO chaired by the Finance Director; 
 the appointment of staff who have the requisite skills, experience and integrity; who are supported by 

the provision of access to training where necessary, well-designed IT systems and process manuals, 
and a sound system of performance management; and who are overseen by competent senior staff; 

 the issue of operations manuals which set out all key procedures and approval authorities, including a 
credit risk policy and lending manual which prescribes the procedures for making loans; 

 the allocation of responsibility for compliance with applicable laws and regulations to designated 
individuals and in accordance with the requirements of the FCA and the PRA; 

 disaster recovery and business interruption plans and arrangements, cyber security controls, and daily 
back-up of data from the bank’s accounting and other systems; 

 the regular and timely provision of management information to EXCO and to the Board in a form that 
is consistent with good practice in the finance industry; and 

 the issue of staff policies and procedures. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
Internal control (continued) 

Charity Bank uses a ‘three lines of defence’ model adapted to be proportional to the nature and scale of its 
business, as described on pages 10-11. 

The Board and its Committees, and the management team and its committees, provide oversight and challenge 
across all three lines of defence. 

Risk management policy 

Charity Bank considers risk under three broad categories: 

 Strategic risk; 
 Financial risk; and 
 Operational risk. 

The definitions of these risk categories are set out on page 12. 

The Risk Management Policy provides a framework for ensuring that risks that could have a significant adverse 
impact on the ability of Charity Bank to meet its objectives are identified, measured, quantified where possible, 
monitored, managed and reported. 

This policy sets out Charity Bank’s risk management system which incorporates: 

 a risk management strategy; 
 risk policies; 
 risk appetite framework; 
 risk measurement and quantification; 
 risk processes which enable it to identify, assess, manage, monitor and report the risks it is or to which 

it might be exposed; 
 risk reporting to the Board and to its Committees; and 
 specified roles and responsibilities held by staff. 

This policy is intended to support appropriate management of risk exposures and that is proportionate to the 
nature, scale and complexity of the risks faced by Charity Bank. 
Charity Bank’s risk management framework is key to the assessment by the Board of Charity Bank’s capital 
adequacy requirements in its ICAAP and of its exposure to liquidity risk as evaluated in its ILAAP which are 
prepared in light of its business plans and the risks it faces. 

Investment powers, policies and performance 

Charity Bank seeks to maintain a sufficient level of available liquidity that will enable it to repay maturing 
deposits as they fall due and to meet drawdowns on loan commitments as they arise. 

The Board has specified Charity Bank’s investment risk appetite and delegated the task of overseeing the 
policies implementing this appetite to the Risk Committee. 

Charity Bank continues to comply with the regulatory requirement to hold a minimum level of investments in 
assets that qualify as High Quality Liquid Assets (‘HQLAs’), which during the period were selected and managed 
by Royal London Asset Management (‘RLAM’) on behalf of Charity Bank. 

Surplus amounts above this minimum level are deposited with banking counterparties at various tenors or 
invested in selected funds managed by RLAM.  

Investment criteria set by Charity Bank guide the investment of its funds by RLAM; these continue to follow 
the conservative approach adopted in the past in terms of liquidity, eligible counterparties, maturities and 
products in which such surplus funds can be invested. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
Investment powers, policies and performance (continued) 

A table summarising responsibilities for different aspects of liquidity management is provided below. 
 

 
Public disclosure 

Details of Charity Bank’s Pillar 3 public disclosure document can be obtained from its registered office or viewed 
on the website www.charitybank.org 

Directors’ indemnity 

Charity Bank has qualifying third party indemnity provisions in its Articles of Association for the benefit of its 
Directors during the year and these remain in force at the date of this report. 

Equal opportunity and diversity 

Charity Bank is committed to ensuring that all employees, job applicants and workers are treated fairly in an 
environment which is free from any form of discrimination with regard to all nine of the protected 
characteristics as outlined by the Equality Act 2010: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race (which include colour, nationality and ethnic origins), religion and 
or belief, sex and sexual orientation.  

The bank aims to ensure equality of opportunity to all and to provide employees with the opportunity to 
develop and realise their full potential. The bank values diversity and is committed to eliminating unlawful and 
unfair discrimination. Appointment will always be on merit, within relevant legislative and statutory 
obligations.  

Political and charitable donations 

Charity Bank made no political donations this year (2019 – £nil). No charitable donations (2019: £330) were 
made during the year.  

Employee and other stakeholders involvement 

More information regarding employee and other stakeholder involvement with Charity Bank can be found in 
the strategic report (see page 9). 

 

 

 

Policy Day-to-day management

Liquidity investments Finance Team

Cash at bank
Cash funds management i s  
performed by the Finance Team

Loans receivable Credit Team

Deposits (under the CITR 
scheme)

Deposits (other)

Liquidity management
Ris k appeti te i s  set by Board and the pol i cies  

are set by the Ri sk Committee
Finance Team

LIQUIDITY

LIABILITIES

SUMMARY OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR OVERSIGHT OF LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT

ASSETS

Ris k appeti te i s  set by Board and the pol i cies  
are set by the Ri sk Committee

Ris k appeti te i s  set by Board and the pol i cies  
are set by the Ri sk Committee

Head of Savings  and the 
Customer Services  Team
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
Disclosure of information to auditors 

As far as each of the Directors is aware, at the date when this report was approved: 

 there is no relevant audit information (as defined in the Companies Act 2006) of which the company’s 
auditor is unaware; and 

 each of the Directors has taken all the steps they ought to have taken as a Director to become aware 
of any relevant audit information (as defined) and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of 
that information. 

 This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 
of the Companies Act 2006. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PWC’) has expressed its willingness to continue in office as auditor and a 
resolution to reappoint it will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

 

 

Approved by the Board of Directors on 23rd April 2021 and signed on its behalf. 

 

 
Alan Hodson 
Chairman 
Fosse House 
182 High Street 
Tonbridge 
Kent TN9 1BE
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Independent auditors’ report to the 
members of The Charity Bank Limited 
 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Opinion 
In our opinion, The Charity Bank Limited’s financial statements: 

● give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of its loss and cash flows for 
the year then ended; 

● have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006; and 

● have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the balance sheet as at 
31 December 2020; the statement of comprehensive income, the cash flow statement, the statement of changes in equity for 
the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies. 

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to public interest entities, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not 
provided to the company. 

Other than those disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the company in 
the period under audit. 

Our audit approach 

Overview 
Audit scope 

● The scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures performed were determined by our risk 
assessment. 

● We performed audit procedures over relevant business activities of the company, using the materiality levels set out above. 
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Key audit matters 

● Determination of expected credit loss allowances. 

● Impact of Covid-19 on the financial statements. 

Materiality 

● Overall materiality: £210,000 (2019: £211,500) based on 1% of Net Assets. 

● Performance materiality: £157,500. 

The scope of our audit 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial 
statements. 

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with 
our responsibilities, outlined in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section, to detect material 
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below. 

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws 
and regulations related to breaches of the rules of the Financial Conduct Authority, Prudential Regulatory Authority, UK tax 
legislation and equivalent laws and regulations applicable to the company, and we considered the extent to which non-
compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have 
a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s 
incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), 
and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journals, and management bias through judgments 
and assumptions in significant accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included: 

● Making enquiries of management and those charged with governance in relation to known or suspected instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulation and fraud;  

● Reviewing key correspondence with the Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation Authority;  

● Challenging assumptions and judgments made by management in their significant accounting estimates, in particular in 
relation to the impairment of loans and advances (see related key audit matter below); 

● Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted by senior management or with unusual 
account combinations; and . 

● Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing. 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial 
statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or 
through collusion. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether 
or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the 
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we 
make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 

The key audit matters below are consistent with last year. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Determination of expected credit loss allowances.   

Refer to Note 1 - Basis of preparation; Note 2 - 
Accounting policies; Note 14 - Loans and advances to 
customers; Note 25 - Impairment charge; and Note 28 - 
Financial risk management  
 

We understood management’s approach to determining 
ECL allowances and performed the following substantive 
audit procedures in order to assess the performance of the 
ECL models implemented, the appropriateness of 
management’s judgments and estimates in the context of 
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Impairment provisions represent management’s best 
estimate of expected credit loss (‘ECL’) within each 
portfolio at the balance sheet date. The determination of 
ECL is judgmental and the degree of estimation is 
increased as a result of the current uncertain economic 
environment. Losses are recognised on an expected, 
forward-looking basis, reflecting the company’s view of 
potential future economic events.  
 
Under IFRS 9 management is required to determine 
ECLs that may occur over either a 12 month period or the 
remaining life of an asset, depending on the 
categorisation of the individual asset. This categorisation 
is determined by an assessment of whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) of the 
borrower since loan origination. It is also necessary to 
consider the impact of different future macroeconomic 
conditions in the determination of ECLs.  
 
The methodology used by the company to determine 
ECL requires a number of assumptions and judgments to 
be made. We believe that those of most significance, in 
terms of both judgmental and material nature, are as 
follows: 

● The judgments made by management in 
determining the probability of default (‘PD’) and 
loss given default (‘LGD’); 

● The ‘staging’ thresholds selected by 
management to determine a significant 
increase in credit risk, and hence whether a 12 
month or lifetime loss provision is recorded; 

● The application of forward looking economic 
assumptions used in the model; and 

● The measurement of ECL on stage 3 
individually assessed loans. 

the current economic environment and our wider industry 
experience. 
 
We evaluated the design and implementation of controls 
related to the determination of the ECL allowance. 
 
We engaged the support of our credit modelling specialists 
in the substantive procedures set out below. 
  
PD and LGD rates: 

● Assessment of the PD models, which included our 
review of the methodology used to set the lifetime 
and 12-month default rates used in the 
calculation, as well as the appropriateness of the 
implementation of these default rate assumptions 
in the calculation of the ECL. Additionally, 
sensitivity testing has been performed to assess 
the impact of changes in the key PD assumptions 
on the final ECL calculated by the model.  

● Our review of the LGD models consisted of a 
conceptual review of the approach used to 
calculate expected recoveries on collateral 
pledged to facilities on the portfolio, as well as a 
review of the implementation of the selected and 
approved approach using our independent 
replication of the end-to-end ECL calculation. 
Furthermore, sensitivity testing has been 
performed on the key LGD assumptions - 
including the selected LGD floor - in order to 
assess the materiality of these assumptions in the 
final ECL. 

 
Significant increase in credit risk  

● We evaluated the appropriateness of, and 
substantively tested on a sample basis the 
application of, the quantitative and qualitative 
criteria used to assess significant increases in 
credit risk within the methodology and 
calculations. 

● To test the application of management’s ‘staging’ 
thresholds, we performed substantive procedures 
including selecting samples of loans and 
compared the results of our independent credit 
assessment against management’s staging 
triggers. 
 

Forward looking information and multiple economic 
scenarios 

● We assessed the reasonableness and likelihood 
of the forward looking economic assumptions and 
weightings assigned to the scenarios. The 
severity and magnitude of the scenarios were 
compared to external forecasts and the 
sensitivities of the scenarios on the ECL were 
considered. We found that the assumptions 
adopted and assigned weightings to the scenarios 
were reasonable. 
 

Measurement of ECL on Stage 3 loans individually 
assessed 

● For a sample of stage 3 loans, we evaluated the 
specific circumstances of the borrower, post 
balance sheet date developments and whether 
key judgments were appropriate. We re-
performed management’s impairment calculations 
and tested the accuracy of key data inputs used 
to supporting documentation. We challenged 
management on subjective estimates and 
assumptions. 
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We evaluated whether the credit allowance risk disclosures 
made by management were compliant with the 
requirements of IFRS 9 and IAS 1 and agreed the 
disclosures to source data. 
 
Based on our procedures and the evidence obtained, we 
found the assumptions and judgments used by 
management in determining the impairment estimate to be 
reasonable, and the financial statements disclosures to be 
materially compliant with the requirements of IFRS 9 and 
IAS 1. 

Impact of Covid-19 on the financial statements.   

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in 
unprecedented economic conditions and resulting 
government support programmes and regulatory 
interventions to support organisations, including charities, 
and individuals. Given the pervasive effect of the 
pandemic on financial markets and human behaviour, as 
well as the possible disruption to operations, this 
represents a key audit matter. 
 
As described in the Strategic report, the Directors have 
assessed that the company’s systems and infrastructure 
have been robust throughout the pandemic, and that 
there has been no significant disruption in maintaining 
operations. 
 
The Directors have considered the impact of the 
pandemic on the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Based on recent and forecast financial 
performance and the availability of capital resources and 
liquidity, the Directors have concluded that there is no 
material uncertainty and it is appropriate to prepare the 
financial statements on a going concern basis. 

We critically assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the 
planning and execution of our audit. In particular: 

● We assessed the impact of the disruption caused 
by COVID-19 on the risks of material 
misstatement and concluded that no significant 
changes to our risk assessment were required; 

● We evaluated the controls relevant to our audit by 
undertaking walkthroughs of key processes; 

● We considered the impact on estimates included 
in the financial statements, in particular in relation 
to expected credit loss; and 

● We adapted our own working practices to remote 
working and ensured we gathered appropriate 
audit evidence. 
 

We reviewed management’s going concern assessment. 
We also reviewed the Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process and Internal Liquidity Adequacy 
Assessment Process submissions to the PRA and 
evaluated whether the impact of COVID-19 and related 
economic uncertainty had been reflected in the company’s 
financial performance forecast for the going concern period, 
business operations and regulatory capital and liquidity 
assessments. 
 
Based on the work performed, we are satisfied that our 
audit addressed the impact of the disruption caused by 
COVID-19. We have also concluded that the impact of 
COVID-19 as it relates to the going concern assumption 
has been appropriately evaluated and reflected in the 
preparation of these financial statements. 

  

How we tailored the audit scope 
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial 
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the 
industry in which it operates. 

The company is a stand-alone entity with no subsidiaries. The scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit 
procedures performed were determined by our risk assessment. We performed audit procedures over relevant business 
activities and using the materiality levels set out below. 

Materiality 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. 
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent 
of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of 
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 
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Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows: 

Overall company 
materiality 

£210,000 (2019: £211,500). 

How we determined it 1% of Net Assets 

Rationale for 
benchmark applied 

We believe that net assets is an appropriate benchmark as the principal focus for main 
stakeholders is whether the company has sufficient resources to support its business activities. 

  

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and 
undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope 
of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example 
in determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% of overall materiality, amounting to £157,500 for the 
company financial statements. 

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment 
and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our normal range 
was appropriate. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £10,500 
(2019: £10,500) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
included: 

● Evaluation of management’s going concern assessment;  

● Evaluation of management’s financial forecasts and management’s stress testing of liquidity and regulatory capital, 
including the severity of the stress scenarios and assumptions that were used; 

● Evaluation of the degree to which the impact of COVID-19 has been reflected in the company’s financial plans and going 
concern assessment; and 

● Substantiation of liquid resources held, for example at the Bank of England. 
 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at 
least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's 
ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections 
of this report. 

Reporting on other information 
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ 
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated 
in this report, any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material 
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based 
on these responsibilities. 
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With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK 
Companies Act 2006 have been included. 

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions 
and matters as described below. 

Strategic report and Directors' Report 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and 
Directors' Report for the year ended 31 December 2020 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not 
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' Report. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements , the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing 
techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete 
populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases, 
we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample is selected. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with 
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may 
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
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Other required reporting 

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

● we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

● adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or 

● certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

● the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Appointment 
Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the members on 14 May 2019 to audit the 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted 
engagement is 2 years, covering the years ended 31 December 2019 to 31 December 2020. 

  

 

Darren Meek (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

London 

23 April 2021 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 
The notes and information on pages 39 to 74 form part of these financial statements. 

All income and expenses are derived from continuing operations. 

  

for the year ended 31st December 2020 2020 2019
Notes £'000 £'000

Continuing activities

Interest income 4 6,423 6,711

Interest expense 4 (2,193) (2,024)

Net interest income 4,230 4,687

Fee income 5 472 514

Profit on financial assets at fair value through profit & loss 6 311 1,031

Other operating income 7 120 5

Net total income 5,133 6,237

Administrative expenses 8 (4,757) (4,987)

Depreciation and amortisation 16-18 (245) (241)

Impairment charge 25 (610) (198)

(Loss)/ profit on ordinary activities before taxation 10 (479) 811

Tax expense 11 - - 

(Loss)/ profit on ordinary activities after taxation (479) 811
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Balance Sheet 

   
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 23rd April 2021. 
They were signed on their behalf by: 

 
 

Alan Hodson – Director    Jonathan Britton OBE – Director 

Registered company number: 4330018 

The notes and information on pages 39 to 74 form part of these financial statements. 

31st Dec 31st Dec

2020 2019

Notes £'000 £'000

Assets

Cash and balances at banks 12 32,110 16,921

Financial assets at FVPL 13 11,843 37,376

Financial assets at amortised cost 13 17,745 12,234

Loans and advances to customers 14 206,981 179,025

Prepayments 244 288

Other assets 15 1,528 1,359

Property and equipment 16 140 21

Right-of-use asset 17 751 678

Intangible fixed assets 18 1,481 1,101

Total assets 272,823 249,003

Liabilities

Customer accounts 19 241,259 218,774

Deferred income 419 379

Other liabilities 20 3,260 1,677

Accruals 544 680

Lease liability 17 610 588

Subordinated debt 21, 24 5,827 5,752

Total liabilities 251,919 227,850

Called up share capital 22 12,509 12,373

Retained earnings 3,738 4,217

Share premium 4,657 4,563

Total equity 23 20,904 21,153

Total liabilities and shareholders' funds 272,823 249,003
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

 
 

 
The notes and information on pages 39 to 74 form part of these financial statements. 
  

Share Retained Share Total
capital earnings premium equity

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Balance attributable to equity shareholders 

as at 1st January 2020 12,373 4,217 4,563 21,153 
Loss for the year -  (479) -  (479)
Total comprehensive loss for the year -  (479) -  (479)
Capital received 23 136 -  94 230 
Balance attributable to equity shareholders 

as at 31st December 2020 12,509 3,738 4,657 20,904 

Share Retained Share Total
capital earnings premium equity

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Balance attributable to equity shareholders 

as at 31st December 2018 12,077 3,327 4,359 19,763 
Changes on initial application of IFRS 16 -  79 -  79 

Opening balance at 1st January 2019 12,077 3,406 4,359 19,842 
Profit for the year -  811 -  811 
Total comprehensive profit for the year -  811 -  811 
Capital received 23 296 -  204 500 
Balance attributable to equity shareholders 

as at 31st December 2019 12,373 4,217 4,563 21,153 
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Cash Flow Statement 

For the year ended 31st December 2020 

 
 The notes and information on pages 39 to 74 form part of these financial statements. 

2020 2019
Note £'000 £'000

Cash flow from operating activities
(Loss)/ Profit before tax (479) 811 

Interest expense 2,193 2,024 
Depreciation of property and equipment 28 86 
Amortisation of intangible assets 50 19 
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 167 136 
Operating lease adjustment for IFRS 16 -  32 
Movement in impairment 623 92 

2,582 3,200 

Loans and advances to customers (28,383) (37,101)
Financial assets 19,999 (10,094)
Other assets 581 17 
Movement in prepayments 44 (30)

(7,759) (47,208)

Due to customers 22,485 47,844 
Interest paid (2,125) (1,970)
Deferred income 40 17 

(216) 258 
Other liabilities 658 560 

20,842 46,709 
15,665 2,701 

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of fixed assets (577) (1,114)
Disposal of fixed assets -  1 
Net cash outflow from investing activities (577) (1,113)

Cash flow from financing activities
Principal elements of lease payment (136) (103)
Proceeds from issue of share capital 230 -  
Proceeds from issue of subordinated loan stock 75 4,750 
Interest on subordinated loan stock (68) (54)
Net cash inflow from financing activities 101 4,593 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15,189 6,181 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 12 16,921 10,740 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12 32,110 16,921 

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Adjustment to reconcile net loss to cash flow used in operating activities

Net increase in assets relating to operating activities

Net increase in liabilities relating to operating activities

Movement in accruals and accrued interest
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 Basis of preparation 

General information 

The Charity Bank Limited is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The 
address of the registered office is given on page 1. The nature of the bank’s operations and its principal activities 
are set out in the Directors’ report. 

Basis of preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with international 
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.  

Going concern 

The Board of Directors have determined that these financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis 
and that Charity Bank will have the ability to operate for at least 12 months from the date these financial 
statements are approved. 

In making this determination the Directors have assessed a number of projections, risks to and inherent 
strengths of the Bank including:  

 The Bank’s financial projections from 2021 to 2025; 
 The results of capital forecasts together with the results of the ICAAP, the Bank’s Capital Supervisory 

Review and its track record of raising new CET1 capital in 2020 and 2021; 
 Reviews of the Bank’s funding and liquidity demands including the results of the ILAAP and its track 

record of being able to raise deposits during 2020; 
 The availability of liquidity support facilities provided by the Bank of England; 
 The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the move to a very low interest rate environment, on 

the Bank’s revenues and ECL; 
 The continued effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Bank’s business operations and its ability to 

lend and to raise deposits; 
 Operational resilience with respect to the Bank’s ability to work remotely and ability to serve its 

customers; and 
 The resilience of the Bank’s customers during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

The Directors remain confident in Charity Bank’s ability to execute its business plan and raise capital if 
necessary, for the following reasons:  

 The Bank has maintained a regulatory capital surplus well above its risk appetite throughout the stress 
of the pandemic in 2020.  For 2021, business and capital forecasts show profitability before provisions 
and adequate capital maintained in both projected and stressed conditions.  Additionally, the Bank has 
available management actions that will further preserve capital under stress.  It has also been able to 
raise capital in 2020 and 2021 to support continued lending growth. 

 Despite the economic stresses of 2020, the Bank has been able to raise deposits and maintain its 
various liquidity ratios above its risk appetite.  This has been helped by favourable behaviour of our 
customers during the COVID-Stresses of 2020, who have continued their relationships with the Bank.  
While it is not envisaged that in either projected or stressed conditions that behaviour will change 
during the next 12 months, the Bank has available platforms with which it could raise further deposits 
if required. 

 The business operations of the Bank have remained resilient to the impacts of the pandemic. There has 
been continued ability to process loan applications and drawdowns, and to attract and process new 
deposits. Future growth is assured due to both the £49m of lending approvals in the second half of 
2020, and the Bank’s current pipeline of new loan applications. 

 COVID-19 lockdowns have led to a significant change in work patterns with most staff now working 
from home. This new way of working has become second nature and the Bank does not see the 
continued pandemic as impacting on operational resilience. 
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1        Basis of preparation (continued) 

Going concern (continued) 

 The Bank has a unique customer base of charities and social enterprises. During the pandemic, these 
customers have largely shown to be resilient to the economic impacts of COVID-19 and related 
restrictions. Nonetheless, the Bank holds significant provisions for estimated expected loan losses, 
reflecting forward-looking economic scenarios. 

Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial assets which are 
valued at amortised cost or fair value through the profit and loss (‘FVPL’). 

Significant estimates and critical judgements  

Critical judgements are deemed to relate to how accounting policy is applied whereas estimates relate to 
quantification of amounts included within the Annual Report. There are no critical judgements in this regards. 
The preparation of the company’s financial statements requires management to make significant estimates and 
assumptions regarding the valuation of certain financial instruments (see fair value in note 2 and note 13) and 
impairment of assets (see loan impairment in note 2, sub-section ‘Impairment of financial assets held at 
amortised cost’, and note 14 and 25). Sensitivities relating to interest and credit risk are disclosed under note 
28. Other judgments also include: the recognition of deferred tax assets which are recognised only to the extent 
sufficient future taxable profit is probable (see note 11); the outcome of litigation (see note 26); and other 
matters that affect the financial statements and related disclosures. The company believes that the estimates 
utilised in preparing the financial statements are reasonable, relevant and reliable. Actual results could differ 
from these estimates. 

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance 

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance (‘ECL’) allowance for financial assets measured at 
amortised cost requires assumptions about the future economic conditions and credit behaviour. More 
information regarding the ECL is disclosed in note 28.  

Application of revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) 

In the current year, Charity Bank has applied the following standards and amendments that are effective for an 
accounting period that begins on or after 1st January 2020: 

 Definition of Material- amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 
 Definition of a Business- amendments to IFRS 3 
 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform- amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 
 Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. 

The amendments listed above do not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not 
expected to significantly affect current or future periods. 

Future accounting developments 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 
December 2020 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by Charity Bank. These standards are not 
expected to have a material impact on the bank in the current or future reporting periods. 
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2 Accounting policies 

This note sets out Charity Bank's accounting policies which relate to the financial statements as a whole. All 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless stated otherwise. 

Income recognition 

a) Interest income and expense 

Interest income on financial assets and interest expense on financial liabilities are recognised in ‘interest 
income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the income statement using the ‘effective interest rate’ (’EIR’) method. 
Interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount on loans.  

The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the expected future cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial 
instrument. The EIR incorporates fees receivable or paid that are an integral part of the yield of an effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. 

All income derives from banking business carried out in the United Kingdom. 

b) Fee income 

Fees are accounted for depending on the services to which the income relates to as follows: 

 fees earned on the execution of a significant act are recognised in ‘fee income’ when the performance 
obligation (typically the act) is completed; 

 fees earned in respect of services are recognised in ‘fee income’ as the services are provided; and 
 fees which form an integral part of the ‘effective interest rate’ of a financial instrument are recognised 

as an adjustment to the effective interest rate and recorded in ‘interest income’. 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised in Charity Bank’s balance sheet when the bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. All financial assets are initially recognised at fair value. Immediately 
after initial recognition, an ECL is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost. No ECL is 
recognised for financial assets measured at FVPL.  

All financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed to see if there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. Refer to note 2, subsection "Impairment of loans and advances to customers 
held at amortised cost" providing more detail on the significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) and the factors 
considered. 

i) Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

 Amortised cost; and 
 Fair value through profit or loss. 

Management determines the classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition. Re-classification 
is not made between asset classes. 

The classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets depend on: 

i. The business model for managing the asset; and 
ii. The cash flow characteristics of the asset 

 
 Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where the cash flows solely 

represent payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’) and not designated at FVPL, are measured at 
amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets are adjusted by any credit loss allowances 
recognised. Interest income from the financial assets is included in profit using the effective interest 
rate method. 
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Financial assets (continued) 

i) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

 Fair value through profit or loss: Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income (’FVOCI’) are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss is recognised 
in the profit or loss and presented within ‘Profit/(loss) on derecognition of financial assets measured 
at FVPL’ in the year in which it arises.  

 Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where 
the cash flows solely represent payments of principal and interest are measured at FVOCI. 

Business model: The business model reflects how the assets are managed to generate cash flows. That is, if the 
objective is solely to collected contractual cash flows from the assets or collect both contractual cash flows and 
cash flows arising from the sale of assets.  

SPPI: Charity Bank assesses whether the financial asset cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest using the SPPI test. 

ii) Impairment 

Charity Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its financial assets carried at amortised 
cost and with the exposure arising from loan commitments. A loss allowance is recognised at each reporting 
date. The measurement of ECL reflects: 

 The unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible 
outcomes; 

 The time value of money; and 
 Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting 

date about past events, current conditions and forecast of future economic conditions. 
 

iii) Modification 

Charity Bank sometimes renegotiates or modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to borrowers. When this 
happens, Charity Bank assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different from the original 
terms. This is done by considering, but not limited to, the following factors: 

 If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash 
flows to amounts the borrower is expected to pay; 

 Whether any substantial new terms are introduced that affect the risk profile of the loan; 
 Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty; 
 Significant change to the interest rate; and 
 Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk 

associated with the loan. 

If the terms are substantially different, the original financial asset is derecognised and the bank recognises a 
‘new’ asset at fair value and recalculates a new EIR for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently 
considered to be that date of initial recognition for the impairment calculation purposes, including if there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk. Charity Bank also considers if the new financial asset is deemed to be 
credit-impaired at initial recognition, considering the factors of the renegotiation.  

If the terms are not substantially different, there is no derecognition and the carrying amount is recalculated.  
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Financial assets (continued) 

iiii) Derecognition other than modification 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have 
expired. 

Loans and fees receivable 

Loans and fees receivable are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. 

Loans and fees receivable are initially recognised at fair value, including directly attributable transaction costs 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the ‘effective interest rate method’, less any expected 
credit losses. 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost 

Charity Bank’s loan impairments are established to recognise expected impairment losses in its portfolio of 
loans carried at amortised cost. Refer to note 14 and note 28 detailing the loan loss impairments. 

The actual amount of the future cash flows and the date they are received may differ from these estimates and 
consequently actual losses incurred may differ from those recognised in these financial statements. 

In certain cases, Charity Bank may use forbearance measures to assist borrowers experiencing significant 
financial distress. The bank’s policy is to work with borrowers and their boards to seek solutions to their financial 
problems, and to subscribe fully to the six ‘treating customers fairly’ outcomes in its approach to recovery 
management. Experience suggests that borrowers, even those in severe financial difficulties, can often secure 
grants and other funding to overcome such problems; the accessibility to such funding is unique to the social 
sector. Loan rescheduling may be considered on an exceptional basis if considered appropriate by the relevant 
delegated authority. Any forbearance measures agreed are assessed on a case-by-case basis. Forbearance 
accounts are monitored regularly by the Credit Sub-Committee and the Internal Credit Committee. During the 
pandemic, some borrowers found their income reduced and requested capital repayment holidays, which were 
granted, but by year-end these borrowers had recovered and were making their scheduled loan repayments.  

A loan will be credit-impaired when there is evidence that events since the loan was granted have affected 
expected cash flows from the loan and the full value of the loan is not considered recoverable. A loan can also 
be credit-impaired when the borrower has gone into administration, even if the full value is considered 
recoverable and will be categorised in stage 3. 

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition 
as summarised below: 

 A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and its 
credit risk is continuously monitored 

 If a significant increase in credit risk (’SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the financial 
instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired (unless the borrower is 
Out of Order, they are then classified as ‘stage 3’). 

 If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 3’ 
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost (continued) 

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9: 

 
Significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) 

Charity Bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one 
or more of the following quantitative or qualitative criteria have been met: 

 The borrower’s account has been classified as higher risk (being Out of Order, Full Watch List or Internal 
Watch List); or 

 The borrower’s credit score has fallen by at least 15% since sanction date (or 31 December 2015, 
whichever is later). 

Loans that are 10 days past-due or more are classified as Out of Order and included in ‘stage 3’, regardless of 
the results of the quantitative analysis. 

Definition of default 

A loan will be considered to be ‘non-performing’ or ‘credit impaired’ when it meets our definition of default – 
that is to say, the loan is 10 days past-due, or the borrower is considered unlikely to pay without realisation of 
collateral. Unlikeliness to pay is assessed through the presence of triggers including a persistent breach of debt 
service cover, severe liquidity concerns, insolvency, loss of a significant contract or revenue streams, or 
significant management/governance issues. 

A loan may also be considered to be non-performing when it is subject to material forbearance measures, 
consisting of concessions in relation to: 

 A modification of the previous terms and conditions of the loan which the borrower is not considered 
able to comply with; or 

 A total or partial refinancing of a troubled loan contract that would not have been granted had the 
borrower not been in financial difficulties. 

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event which defines an asset as “non-performing” or “credit 
impaired”. Instead, the combined effect of several events may cause financial assets to become credit impaired. 
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost (continued) 

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model 

The ECL model (collective provisioning) incorporates four forward-looking economic scenarios: 

 Base case- GDP recovery from mid-year following successful roll-out of the vaccine; government 
financial support and grant funding continues until recovery takes hold minimising 
unemployment/bankruptcies; residential property prices soften due to reducing demand as stamp 
duty holiday ends; CRE falls due to reducing demand, in particular for retail and offices, as work and 
lifestyle patterns change; 

 Upside- broader and more rapid recovery; 
 Downside- slower recovery which results in higher unemployment/bankruptcies and so falling 

demand/increasing supply, further depressing property prices; and  
 Severe Downside- a tail-risk scenario where Covid-19 is not contained/controlled, widescale lockdowns 

continue, government financial support falters, QE/negative interest rates insufficient, consumer and 
business confidence collapses, unemployment/bankruptcies rise sharply and property prices 
significantly fall.  

This is the first year where the impact of applying forward-looking economic scenarios has been material. 
COVID-19 has been considered in the severe downside scenario and has adversely impacted the assumptions 
and the downside for the probability weightings. 

The key assumptions adjusted in the scenarios are: 

 Residential non-social housing collateral value (recovery and realisation rates- movements affect the 
LGD value used in the model); 

 Social housing collateral value (consumer price index rent standard- movements affect the LGD value 
used in the model); 

 Commercial real estate collateral value (realisation rates- movements affect the LGD value used in the 
model); 

 Credit scores (aligned with ICAAP assumptions- movements impact on the credit grade which 
determines the PD in the model.  Additionally, adverse movements in the credit score can impact on 
the staging of the loan – a fall of 15% or more in the credit score since sanction is a SICR and so a 
lifetime ECL is applied); 

 Watch list overlay- the added stress applied to the Severe Downside scenario for borrowers with weak 
credit grades and a debt service coverage ratio (‘DSCR’) pre-stress defaulting to Internal Watch List, 
Full Watch List or Out of Order. This impacts the PD in the model (Full Watch List and Out of Order 
accounts default to credit grades E and F respectively).  Additionally, the overlay can impact on the 
staging of the loan- Watch List accounts are a SICR and so a lifetime ECL is applied; 

 Probability weightings- The aggregate ECL’s for each scenario are probability weighted to give an 
overall ECL. The probability weighting reflects the likelihood of the scenario occurring in the next 12 
months for each scenario (movements in the probability weightings for each scenario will impact on 
the overall ECL). 

 
 

 

 

Key Assumptions for Scenarios Base Case Upside Downside
Severe 

Downside
Residential Non-Social Housing (2.00%) - (5.00%) (15.00%)
Social Housing (Residential) - 1.70% (2.50%) (5.00%)
Commercial Property (10.00%) 2.50% (15.00%) (25.00%)
Credit Score (5.00%) - (10.00%) (25.00%)
Watch List Overlay No No No Yes
Probability Weighting 50.00% 10.00% 30.00% 10.00%
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost (continued) 

This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect of a 100% probability weighting for each scenario. The table 
below does not include any change to the stage 3 population in the first three scenarios. That is because the 
ECL for existing stage 3 exposures would not be materially different under any of the alternative scenarios. It 
should be noted that the population of stage 3 loans at the balance sheet date is determined at that point in 
time and the impact on ECL of exposures moving from a 12-month provisioning stage to a lifetime provisioning 
stage (and vice versa) as a result of changes in forecasts of future economic conditions is captured by 
recalculating the ECLs for stages 1 and 2 (through the changes in the population and PDs and LGDs for those 
two stages). 

 
In addition, single-factor sensitivity analysis is provided below and shows how the impairment number is 
affected by changes in the various components of the calculation. The below sensitivity analysis reflects the 
sensitivity of the estimate to each key assumption on its own. Therefore, aggregating the results of single-factor 
sensitivity analyses for different parameters does not produce meaningful information because of the 
correlation of the effects of the parameters. Similarly, the sensitivity analysis should not be extrapolated due 
to the nonlinear effect. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Probability Weigh ng Sensi vity
Collective 
Provision Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Increase on 
Baseline

Baseline 868,512

Base Case 460,992 58,074 375,511 27,408 (407,520)
Upside 372,350 39,038 305,904 27,408 (496,162)
Downside 616,633 73,095 516,130 27,408 (251,879)
Severe Downside 4,157,907 36,771 3,421,611 699,525 3,289,396

Assumption Sensitivity
Collective 
Provision

% of 

Loan Book1
Collective 
Provision

% of 

Loan Book1

Baseline n/a 868,512 0.42%

Non-Social Housing Reduce by 5% 892,744 0.43% 24,233 0.01%

Reduce by 10% 924,057 0.44% 55,545 0.03%

Social Housing Reduce by 5% 873,920 0.42% 5,408 0.00%

Reduce by 10% 879,814 0.42% 11,302 0.01%

Commercial Reduce by 5% 964,025 0.46% 95,513 0.05%

Reduce by 10% 1,076,228 0.52% 207,716 0.10%

Credit Score Reduce by 5% 1,294,617 0.62% 426,106 0.20%

Reduce by 10% 1,949,086 0.94% 1,080,575 0.52%
1  - Loan book as at balance sheet date

Increase on Baseline
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost (continued) 

The assumptions in the scenarios are based in reference to key macroeconomic indicators such as GDP, 
unemployment and Bank of England Base rate. Whilst historically there has not been a correlation between the 
macroeconomic environment and the performance of our loan book, as evident by the consistently low level 
of loan losses over 18 years including the Financial Crisis, these indicators provide context on the operating 
environment for our borrowers and so material changes in the macroeconomic outlook could impact on the 
assumptions and probability weightings in our scenarios.  

Write off policy 

The bank writes off financial assets in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and 
has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised in Charity Bank’s balance sheet when the bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Charity Bank classifies its financial liabilities as ‘other liabilities’. 

Management determines the classification of financial liabilities at initial recognition. Financial liabilities are 
initially recognised at fair value including directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, using the ‘effective interest rate’ method. 

Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognised in respect of present obligations arising from past events where it is probable that 
outflows of resources will be required to settle the obligations and they can be reliably estimated. Contingent 
liabilities are possible obligations whose existence depends on the outcome of uncertain future events or those 
present obligations where the outflows of resources are uncertain or cannot be measured reliably. Contingent 
liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed unless they are remote. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by Charity Bank are recognised at the date the proceeds are 
received, net of direct issue costs. 

Repurchase of Charity Bank’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in ‘equity’. No gain 
or loss is recognised in ‘profit or loss’ on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of Charity Bank’s own equity 
instruments. 

Fair value 

All financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument on initial 
recognition is normally the transaction price. 

Subsequently, the fair values of financial instruments that are quoted in an active market are based on bid price 
(for assets) and offer price (for liabilities). Where there is no quoted market price in an active market, fair values 
are determined using valuation techniques including discounting future cash flows, option pricing models and 
other methods used by market participants.  
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of the fixed assets over their estimated 
useful life as follows: 

Leasehold improvements  10 years (or lease period if shorter) 

Equipment    3 years 

Right-of-use asset   Term of the lease 

At each balance sheet date, property and equipment are assessed for indications of impairment.  

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost, less amortisation and provisions for impairment. The assets are primarily 
the new banking system which is amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. The banking 
system was capitalised during October 2020 and has an estimated useful life of ten years, computer software 
has been calculated as three years, in a manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash 
flows. At each balance sheet date, intangible assets are assessed for indications of impairment. 

Leases 

A lease is recognised as a right-of-use asset with a corresponding lease liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use. The asset and liability arising from the lease are measured on a present value basis of 
future lease payments. Lease payments are discounted using an interest rate implicit in the lease.  

Payments associated with short-term leases or leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis 
as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Taxation 

A tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income 
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. Charity Bank’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date. 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of 
the assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation 
of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent  

that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Recognition of both deferred tax assets and deferred tax is reviewed on an annual basis at the balance 
sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities and there is an 
intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled or 
the asset is realised. 
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Pension costs 

Charity Bank makes contributions to the Pensions Trust in respect of defined contribution personal pension 
arrangements. One of the schemes offered historically by the Pensions Trust, the Growth Plan series 3, offered 
guarantees to its members as to capital and pensions and is, therefore, considered to be a defined benefit 
scheme based on a change in legislation in 2014. Only a few employees are still members of that scheme, which 
is now closed, but as a participating employer, Charity Bank may be liable to fund any shortfalls in the scheme 
if it decides to withdraw from the scheme. As advised by the Pensions Trust, Charity Bank’s default liability on 
withdrawal from the scheme amounted to £ 43,219.49 at 30th September 2019. This was based on the latest 
actuarial valuation of employer’s liability.  

Charity Bank is not required to make deficit contributions, has no plans to withdraw from the scheme and a 
liability has not therefore been accrued as at the balance sheet date.  

The amount charged in the Statement of comprehensive income in respect of pension costs is the contribution 
payable in the year. No provision has been made to account for any potential shortfall in the fund attributable 
to the Growth Fund. Differences between contributions payable and the year-end contributions actually paid 
are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet. 

The amount of contributions upon which the benefits are calculated is 17.00% of basic salary. Charity Bank 
contributes up to 11.33% and its employee up to 5.67%. 

Cash and balances at banks 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and demand deposits with banks. 

Capital instruments 

Charity Bank classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. An instrument is classified as a liability if it is a 
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial 
liabilities on potentially unfavourable terms. An instrument is classified as equity if it evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of Charity Bank after the deduction of liabilities. The components of a compound financial 
instrument issued by Charity Bank are classified and accounted for separately as financial liabilities or equity as 
appropriate. 

3 Segmental reporting 

In the opinion of the Directors, Charity Bank carries on one principal class of business, banking, and operates 
almost entirely within one geographical segment, the United Kingdom. Deposits are drawn from throughout 
the United Kingdom together with a small amount of funds from abroad. Charity Bank lends in every county 
and region of the United Kingdom, with a small proportion committed in support of UK non-governmental 
organisations working internationally. 
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4 Net Interest Income 

 
The interest income of £56k from Financial assets at amortised cost relates to the UK Treasury stock and 
European Investment Bank (‘EIB’) floating rate note. The total interest income of £6.42m is calculated using the 
EIR method and relates to income from all financial assets measured at amortised cost. 

 
 

5 Fee income 

  
6 Profit/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit & loss 

   2020  2019 
      £'000   £'000 
Distributable income from Open Ended Investment Companies ('OEICs')  309   550  
Realised gains and losses on OEICs   36   (142) 
Unrealised gains and losses on OEICs     (34)   623  
      311    1,031  

 

 

7 Other operating income 

 

2020 2019
Interest and similar income £'000 £'000
Loans and advances to customers 6,333 6,562 
Cash and balances at banks 23 63 
Other assets 11 14 
Financial assets at amortised cost 56 72 

6,423 6,711 

2020 2019
Interest expense and similar charges £'000 £'000
Due to customers 2,104 1,945 
Debt issued 68 54 
Lease liability 21 25 

2,193 2,024 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Arrangement fees on loans that did not proceed 59 64 
Non-utilisation fees 413 450 

472 514 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Commission from The Reach Fund- Access 3 2 
Commission from the Resilience and Recovery Loan Fund 110 - 
Miscellaneous income and fees 7 3 

120 5 
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8 Administrative expenses 

   
Total number of employees at 31st December 2020 were 57 and at 31st December 2019 were 58. Full-time 
equivalents at 31st December 2020 were 52 and at 31st December 2019 were 54. 

Employee emoluments 

The number of staff whose annualised emoluments exceeded £60,000 as at 31st December 2020 and at 31st 
December 2019 were as follows:  

  
Employees 

The Directors consider the mission of Charity Bank will be best achieved if the staff work together as a team 
and that the reward structure should reflect this. The current ratio between the highest and lowest paid 
member of staff is seven times (2019: seven times). Pension contributions were made to The Pensions Trust or 
other approved pension scheme in respect of employees and Directors included above. 

Directors 

In 2020, one Non-Executive Director (2019: 1) was reimbursed expenses totalling £85 (2019: £1,088), relating 
primarily to travel expenses incurred in attending Board meetings and events arranged by Charity Bank. 
Emoluments are not paid to Non-Executive Directors.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020 2019
Average number of employees 59 63 

59 63 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Wages and salaries (including Executive Directors) 2,633 2,790 
Social security costs 311 311 
Other pension costs 261 267 
Other staff costs 192 257 
Total staff costs 3,397 3,625 
Other administrative expenses 1,360 1,362 

4,757 4,987 

2020 2019
Number Number

£60,001 - £70,000 7 7 
£70,001 - £80,000 2 2 
£80,001 - £90,000 1 1 
£90,001 - £100,000 1 2 
£100,001 - £110,000 2 1 
£130,001 - £140,000 1 1 

14 14 
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8 Administrative expenses (continued) 

Directors’ remuneration 

 
The highest paid Director during the year received a total remuneration package of £153k (2019: £151k). Two 
Executive Directors received pension benefits in the year to 31 December 2020 (2019: two). Directors do not 
receive any share options and no share options were awarded under long term incentive plans. 

Key management personnel 

 
Key management personnel comprise the Board of Directors and all members of the EXCO.  

Loans and deposit accounts are held by members of the Board and Key Management Personnel. These are on 
the same terms as other customers of the bank where the equivalent products are on offer. All loans are in 
the form of staff loans and total £12k (2019: £15k) and are unsecured.  

Deposits held by key management personnel total £106k (2019: £181k) and subordinated debt held by 
members of the Board is £650k (2019: £650k). Deposits held by connected individuals to Charity Bank are 
£95k (2019: £93k) and deposits held by connected entities are £1.5m (2019: £86k). 

Auditors remuneration has been disclosed in note 10. 

9 Pension costs 

Charity Bank operates a defined contribution pension scheme for staff. Charity Bank contributed £261k during 
the year (2019: £267k). This amount forms part of total staff costs recorded under administrative expenses. 
There was £0.8k (2019: £2k) outstanding contributions at the balance sheet date.  

Refer to pension costs under note 2 for additional details of the defined benefit scheme, this scheme is now 
closed. 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Directors' emoluments 235 239
Contribution to a defined contribution pension scheme 27 27
Medical insurance 5 4

267 270 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Emoluments 604 512
Contribution to a defined contribution pension scheme 67 58
Medical insurance 10 9

681 579 
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10 (Loss)/ profit on activities before taxation 

  
11 Tax expense 

The UK corporation tax rate was due to reduce to 17% from 1 April 2020 but following the Budget 2020, Finance 
Act 2020 legislated to keep the corporation tax rate at 19% for the 2020-21 and 2021-22 tax year. In the Spring 
Budget 2021, the Chancellor announced an increase of the corporation tax rate to 25%, which is expected to 
be effective from April 2023. 

Deferred taxes at the balance sheet date have been measured using these enacted tax rates and are not 
recognised on the balance sheet due to uncertainty around future utilisation.  

 
Factors Affecting Total Tax Charge for the Current Year 

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/ profit per the income statement as follows: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Operating profit is stated after charging:
Depreciation - property and equipment 28 86 
Depreciation - right-of-use asset 167 136 
Amortisation - intangible assets 50 19 

245 241 
Auditors' remuneration:
- audit of annual financial statements 137 110 
- additional audit fee relating to prior year 15 - 
- audit-related assurance services 3 4 

155 114 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Current tax:
Current tax on (losses)/ profits for the year - - 
Total current tax - - 

Tax per income statement - - 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

(Loss)/ profit/ before taxation- continuing activities (479) 811 

Tax on (loss)/ profit at standard UK tax rate of 19.00% (2019: 19%) (91) 154 
Effects of:
     Expenses not deductible 12 9 
     Origination/ (reversal) of temporary differences not recognised 84 (162)
     Asset-for-sale adjustments (5) (1)
Tax charge for the year - - 
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11 Tax expense (continued) 

Unrecognised deferred tax 

 
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the balance sheet, these assets are only recognised if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise the temporary differences and losses against. 
The losses can be carried forward indefinitely and have no expiry date. 

12 Cash and balances at banks 

 
The Bank of England reserve account was opened during 2020, the balance at 31st December 2020 was 
£15m and included in the ‘Short-term balances with other banks’ line above. 

13 Financial assets 

 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Carried forward tax losses 1,311 1,087 
Accelerated capital allowances 70 58 
IFRS change in basis adjustment 64 74 
Temporary trading differences - 3 

1,445 1,222 

Deferred tax rate 19% 17%

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Cash 10,532 5,854 
Short-term balances with other banks 21,584 11,070 
Less expected credit loss (6) (3)

32,110 16,921 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Financial assets at FVPL
Open Ended Investment Companies 11,843 37,376 

11,843 37,376 
Financial assets at amortised cost
UK Treasury Stock 15,168 9,752 
Less expected credit loss (26) (6)
European Investment Bank (EIB) floating rate note 2,607 2,489 
Less expected credit loss (4) (1)

17,745 12,234 
29,588 49,610 

Maturity:

- less than three months 11,843 43,955 
- one year or less but over three months 7,479 3,661 
- between one year and five years 10,296 2,001 
Less expected credit loss (30) (7)

29,588 49,610 
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13 Financial assets (continued) 

OEIC have been classified as FVPL and the UK Treasury stock and EIB floating rate note has been classified as 
amortised cost. The UK Treasury stock and EIB floating rate note are held to meet regulatory liquidity 
requirements for HQLAs.  

14 Loans and advances to customers 

  

 
As at 31st December 2020, Charity Bank had advanced variable and managed rate loans amounting to £199.6 
million (31st December 2019: £173.4 million) and fixed rate loans amounting to £8.4 million (31st December 
2019: £6.3 million) to customers. £36.7k was the balance granted as staff loans (31st December 2019: £52k).  

Total credit impaired loans and advances to customers amounted to £1.8m (31st December 2019: £2.9m), within 
which an allowance for specific impairment of £402k (31st December 2019: £337k) was included. 

15 Other assets 

  

Performing Impaired Performing Impaired
loans loans Total loans loans Total

31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Remaining maturity:
- three months or less excluding on 
demand or at short notice 2,225 - 2,225 528 - 528 
- one year or less but over three months 556 - 556 1,903 - 1,903 
- five years or less but over one year 6,048 - 6,048 3,384 - 3,384 
- over five years 197,376 1,832 199,208 170,924 2,915 173,839 

206,205 1,832 208,037 176,739 2,915 179,654 
Less allowance for impairment (654) (402) (1,056) (292) (337) (629)

205,551 1,430 206,981 176,447 2,578 179,025 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Bank placements 1,230 1,273 
Less expected credit loss (1) (2)
Fees receivable 301 91 
Less expected credit loss (3) (5)
Interest receivable 1 2 

1,528 1,359 
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16 Property and equipment 

  

 

Leasehold  
Equipment  improvements  Total  

£'000  £'000  £'000  
Cost

At 1st January 2020 367 213 580 
Additions 147 - 147 
At 31st December 2020 514 213 727 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1st January 2020 349 210 559 
Charged in year 25 3 28 
Released for disposals - - - 

At 31st December 2020 374 213 587 

Net book value
At 31st December 2020 140 - 140 

At 31st December 2019 18 3 21 

Leasehold  
Equipment  improvements  Total  

£'000  £'000  £'000  
Cost

At 1st January 2019 388 333 721 
Additions 12 - 12 
Disposals (33) (120) (153)
At 31st December 2019 367 213 580 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1st January 2019 337 214 551 
Charged in year 44 42 86 
Released for disposals (32) (46) (78)

At 31st December 2019 349 210 559 

Net book value
At 31st December 2019 18 3 21 

At 31st December 2018 51 119 170 
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17 Right-of-use asset 

 
The total cash outflow for the lease liability in 2020 was £160k (2019: £127k). Depreciation for right-of-use 
asset is disclosed in note 10 and interest on the lease liability is in note 4. In accordance with the lease 
agreement, the rental was renegotiated from February 2020 and the calculation was revised to reflect this. 

The liability is measured as the present value of future lease payments discounted using the incremental 
borrowing rate (which was 3.1% at year-end). The asset is measured at cost comprising of the amount of the 
initial measurement of the lease liability and the restoration costs. Charity Bank is exposed to potential future 
increases in the lease payments, when this occurs the lease liability will be reassessed and adjusted against the 
right-of-use asset. 

Lease payments are allocated between principal and interest expense. The interest expense is charged to the 
profit and loss over the lease period. 

18 Intangible fixed assets 

   
 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Right-of-use asset
Building 751 678

Lease liability
Current 142 107
Non-current 468 481

610 588 
Maturity:
- less than three months 35 26 
- one year or less but over three months 107 81 
- between one year and five years 468 470 
- more than five years - 11 

610 588 

Computer Work in
software progress Total  

£'000  £'000  £'000  
Cost

At 1st January 2020 391 1,079 1,470 
Transfer from work in progress 1,509 (1,509) - 
Additions - 430 430 
At 31st December 2020 1,900 - 1,900 

Accumulated amortisation

At 1st January 2020 369 - 369 
Charged in year 50 - 50 
At 31st December 2020 419 - 419 

Net book value
At 31st December 2020 1,481 - 1,481 

At 31st December 2019 22 1,079 1,101 
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18 Intangible fixed assets (continued) 

Work in progress relates to the new banking system which was capitalised in 2020. The costs capitalised relate 
to staff costs directly attributable to the development of new banking system and costs paid to the relevant 
suppliers for the new system and its project management. 

 

 
 

19 Customer accounts 

  
 

 

 

Computer Work in
software progress Total  

£'000  £'000  £'000  
Cost

At 1st January 2019 402 - 402 
Additions 19 1,079 1,098 
Disposals (30) - (30)
At 31st December 2019 391 1,079 1,470 

Accumulated amortisation

At 1st January 2019 380 - 380 
Charged in year 19 - 19 
Released for disposals (30) - (30)
At 31st December 2019 369 - 369 

Net book value
At 31st December 2019 22 1,079 1,101 

At 31st December 2018 22 - 22 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

With agreed maturity dates or periods of notice by remaining 
maturity:
- three months or less 135,453 111,545 
- one year or less, but over three months 67,220 67,969 
- more than one year but less than five years 38,584 39,258 
- more than five years 2 2 

241,259 218,774 
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20 Other liabilities 

 
Cash collateral held is in the form of deposits received from loan borrowers. 

An expected credit loss charge has been raised on commitments in accordance with IFRS 9. Refer to note 26 for 
the commitments balance at 31st December 2020. The expected credit loss on commitments has been included 
in the ‘Charge to income statement’ in note 25. 

21 Subordinated debt 

 
£75k of new subordinated debt was raised during the year, which matures in 2025. 

In the event of Charity Bank’s liquidation before the loans mature, the repayment of subordinated debt and 
outstanding interest will rank behind ordinary creditors. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Social security and other taxes 268 195 
Cash collateral 2,056 1,471 
Future share capital not recognised yet 750 - 
Credit loss allowance on commitments 186 11 

3,260 1,677 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Subordinated debt
Principal 5,825 5,750 
Accrued Interest 2 2 

5,827 5,752 
Maturity:
- less than three months 2 2 
- one year or less but over three months 1,000 - 
- between one year and five years 4,825 5,750 
- more than five years - - 

5,827 5,752 
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22 Total equity 

 

  
No dividend has been declared (2019: £nil). 

All of the issued ordinary shares are equity shares. 

Ordinary shares carry one vote each up to a maximum of 49.9%. Any excess votes over and above the 49.9% 
are reapportioned across the remaining voting shares. They entitle the holder to share in the proceeds of 
winding up the company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.   

23 Equity shareholder’s funds 

   
During 2020, Esmée Fairbairn Foundation made an additional investment in share capital of £230k. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31st Dec 31st Dec
Number of 2020 Number of 2019

shares £'000 shares £'000
Authorised, issued, allotted and fully 
paid
Ordinary shares of £0.50 each 25,017,314 12,509 24,745,125 12,373 

25,017,314 12,509 24,745,125 12,373 

Number Share Share
of shares capital premium

£'000  £'000  

At 31st December 2020 25,017,314 12,509 4,657 

At 31st December 2019 24,745,125 12,373 4,563 

At 1st Incoming Loss for At 31st

Jan 2020 resources the year Dec 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Called-up share capital
  Fully paid ordinary shares  12,373 136 -  12,509 
Retained earnings
  Capital contribution  14,478 - -  14,478 
  Accumulated loss (10,261) - (479) (10,740)
Total unrestricted 
equity shareholders' funds 16,590 136 (479) 16,247 
Share premium 4,563 94 - 4,657 
Available-for-sale reserve - - - - 
Total equity shareholders' funds  21,153 230 (479)  20,904 
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23 Equity shareholder’s funds (continued) 

 

 
24 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

The table below details changes in the Company’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. 

  

 
25 Impairment charge 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At 1st Incoming Profit for Changes on initial At 31st

Jan 2019 resources the year application of IFRS 16 Dec 2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Called-up share capital
  Fully paid ordinary shares  12,077 296 - -  12,373 
Retained earnings
  Capital contribution  14,478 - - -  14,478 
  Accumulated loss (11,151) - 811 79 (10,261)
Total unrestricted 
equity shareholders' funds 15,404 296 811 79 16,590 
Share premium 4,359 204 - - 4,563 
Available-for-sale reserve - - - - - 
Total equity shareholders' funds  19,763 500 811 79  21,153 

1st Jan Cash Non-cash 31st Dec
2020 changes changes 2020

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Subordinated debt 21 5,752 75 - 5,827 

5,752 75 - 5,827 

1st Jan Cash Non-cash 31st Dec
2019 changes changes 2019

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Subordinated debt 21 1,504 4,248 - 5,752 

1,504 4,248 - 5,752 

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Opening balance 657 603 
Bad debts recovered/ (written off) 14 (144)
Charge to income statement 610 198 
Closing balance 1,281 657 
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26 Contingent liabilities and commitments 

a) Legal issue- contingent liability 

In December 2020, the bank received a letter of claim for damages allegedly incurred by a former customer in 
relation to services provided by the bank in 2007 and 2008.  The bank and its professional liability insurer have 
retained legal counsel in relation to this claim. Based on the information identified to date, the board believes 
that while it is possible that the total liability and costs of this case could be material, this is unlikely. Moreover, 
the directors do not believe it to be practicable to attribute a value to any potential future liability that might 
result from the claim. The directors believe however that any liability and costs up to the level of the Bank’s 
insurance cover would be offset by an amount receivable under the insurance policy, and the chances of any 
liability and costs arising from the claim materially exceeding the insurance cover have been assessed as remote 
(2019: there were no pending legal cases). 

b) Off-balance sheet liabilities 

  
Commitments comprise amounts yet to be drawn under loan offers or agreements issued to borrowing 
customers or where formalities, for example, completion of security arrangements, have yet to be finalised. 
Refer to note 20 where an impairment has been raised for the expected credit loss on commitments in 
accordance with IFRS 9. 

27 Related party transactions 

Directors’ and Key Management Personnel emoluments and transactions are disclosed in note 8.  

Loans made in partnership with The Big Society Capital Limited total £5.6m (5 loans with 4 borrowers) (2019: 
£11.2m, 6 loans with 4 borrowers). Commitments relating to the partnership with The Big Society Capital 
Limited total £4.7m (2019: £5.3m). 

28 Financial Risk Management 

Interest rate risks 

A robust understanding of the drivers and manifestation of the various interest rate risks to which Charity Bank 
is exposed is required to facilitate good risk management, supervision and potentially capital adequacy. 

The following tables show the interest rate sensitivity profiles of assets and liabilities, demonstrating the 
sensitivity of a change in rate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Loan commitments
Undrawn irrevocable loan commitments 62,629 48,390 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Interest rate risks (continued) 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Next  Up to 3  3 - 6  6 months  1 - 5  Over 5  No specific

As at 31st Dec 2020 day  months  months  to 1 year  years  years  repricing Total  
£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Assets
Cash and balances at 
banks 32,110 - - - - - - 32,110 
Financial assets - 11,813 - 7,479 10,296 - - 29,588 
Loans and advances to 
customers - 198,572 - - 8,409 - - 206,981 
Prepayments and 
other assets - - - 1,228 - - 544 1,772 
Right-of-use asset - - - - - - 751 751 
Property and 
equipment - - - - - - 140 140 
Intangible fixed assets - - - - - - 1,481 1,481 

32,110 210,385 - 8,707 18,705 - 2,916 272,823 

Next  Up to 3  3 - 6  6 months  1 - 5  Over 5  No specific

As at 31st Dec 2020 day  months  months  to 1 year  years  years  repricing Total  
£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Liabilities
Customer accounts 50,974 83,859 41,530 25,690 38,584 2 620 241,259 
Accruals and deferred
   income - - - - - - 963 963 
Lease liability - - - - - - 610 610 
Other liabilities - 2,806 - - - - 454 3,260 
Subordinated debt - - - 1,000 4,825 - 2 5,827 
Shareholders funds - - - - - - 20,904 20,904 

50,974 86,665 41,530 26,690 43,409 2 23,553 272,823 

Interest rate 
   sensitivity gap (18,864) 123,720 (41,530) (17,983) (24,704) (2) (20,637)
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Interest rate risks (continued) 

 
 

 
Charity Bank has the option to change the interest rate on its managed loans by giving 90 days’ notice to its 
borrowing customers. Charity Bank has the option to change the deposit rate on the customer accounts by 
giving 30 days’ notice to its savings customers. 

For loans and advances, if Base Rate were to fall from 0.1% to zero, the main group of loans that would be 
impacted are variable rate loans. The impact would be a reduction in interest received income of £208k p.a. 
(2019: £1.2m). There would be no impact on the income stream from fixed loans. 

For Charity Bank’s customer accounts, if there were an increase in Base Rate, management would review the 
bank’s rates and take appropriate action. For every 0.5% increase in Deposit Rate, the interest paid would 
increase by £694k based on the customer accounts open at 31st December 2020 (2019: £489k). 

 

 

Next  Up to 3  3 - 6  6 months  1 - 5  Over 5  No specific

As at 31st Dec 2019 day  months  months  to 1 year  years  years  repricing Total  
£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Assets
Cash and balances at 
banks 16,921 - - - - - - 16,921 
Financial assets - 43,948 - 3,661 2,001 - - 49,610 
Loans and advances to 
customers - 172,928 - - 6,097 - - 179,025 
Prepayments and 
other assets - - - - 1,271 - 376 1,647 
Right-of-use asset - - - - - - 678 678 
Property and 
equipment - - - - - - 21 21 
Intangible fixed assets - - - - - - 1,101 1,101 

16,921 216,876 - 3,661 9,369 - 2,176 249,003 

Next  Up to 3  3 - 6  6 months  1 - 5  Over 5  No specific

As at 31st Dec 2019 day  months  months  to 1 year  years  years  repricing Total  
£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Liabilities
Customer accounts 38,891 71,985 25,790 42,179 39,258 2 669 218,774 
Accruals and deferred
   income - - - - - - 1,059 1,059 
Lease liability - - - - - - 588 588 
Other liabilities - 1,471 - - - - 206 1,677 
Subordinated debt - - - - 5,750 - 2 5,752 
Shareholders funds - - - - - - 21,153 21,153 

38,891 73,456 25,790 42,179 45,008 2 23,677 249,003 

Interest rate 
   sensitivity gap (21,970) 143,420 (25,790) (38,518) (35,639) (2) (21,501)
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Interest rate risks (continued) 

Charity Bank is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that counterparties will not be able to meet their 
obligations as they fall due. Charity Bank is exposed to both credit risk through loans and advances to its 
customers, and wholesale credit risk from its treasury operations.  

Charity Bank uses collateral to mitigate against credit risk. Within loans and advances to customers, non-cash 
collateral is in the form of residential and commercial property. Collateral is independently valued on 
origination of the loan unless the loan to value of the collateral is less than 33.30% or for other exceptional 
reasons, in which case an informal valuation or estimate is accepted. The collateral is reviewed annually using 
indices or independently revalued in accordance with Charity Bank’s Credit Risk Policy. 

Some cash collateral is held by Charity Bank against a small proportion of its drawn loans. For 2020 this equated 
to 1.0% of the total loans and advances to customers (2019: 0.8%). 

The main credit risk sensitivities on loans and advances for Charity Bank are as follows: 

 probability of default: a decrease in the internal credit score of 10% of all borrowers would result in an 
increase in the collective provision of £806k; and 

 loss given default: a decrease in the value of security of 5% across all loans would result in an increase 
in the collective provision of £81k, 10% would increase the collective provision by £169k. 

Credit risk 

Expected credit loss measurement 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposures of financial assets for which an ECL 
allowance is recognised. 

 
Loss allowance 

The loss allowance recognised in the year is impacted by many factors, as described below: 

 Transfers between Stages 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant 
increases (or decrease) of credit risk with a consequent of a ‘step up’ (or ‘step down’) between 12-
month and lifetime ECL; 

 Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the year as well as releases for 
financial instruments derecognised in the year; 

2019
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash and balances at banks Gross carrying amount 32,116 - - 32,116 16,924 
Expected credit loss (6) - - (6) (3)
Carrying amount 32,110 - - 32,110 16,921 

Financial assets Gross carrying amount 29,618 - - 29,618 49,617 
Expected credit loss (30) - - (30) (7)
Carrying amount 29,588 - - 29,588 49,610 

Loans and advances to customers Gross carrying amount 174,727 31,478 1,832 208,037 179,654 
Expected credit loss (224) (430) (402) (1,056) (629)
Carrying amount 174,503 31,048 1,430 206,981 179,025 

Other assets Gross carrying amount 1,532 - - 1,532 1,366 
Expected credit loss (4) - - (4) (7)
Carrying amount 1,528 - - 1,528 1,359 

Loan commitments Gross carrying amount 61,718 911 - 62,629 48,390 
Expected credit loss (186) - - (186) (11)
Carrying amount 61,532 911 - 62,443 48,379 

2020
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28 Financial risk management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

 Impact on the measurement of the ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the year from regularly 
refreshing the model; 

 Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions; and 
 Financial assets derecognised during the year and write-offs of allowances related to assets that were 

derecognised during the year. 

The table on the following page explains the change in the loss allowance between the beginning and end of 
the year due to these factors: 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans and advances to customers impairment 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expected credit loss at 1st Jan 2020 42 250 337 629 
Loans drawn and recognised 66 12 - 78 
Loans repaid and derecognised (3) (5) (77) (85)
Write-offs - - - - 
Change in credit risk and model 314 (22) 142 434 
Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 112 (84) (28) - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (307) 307 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - (28) 28 - 

Expected credit loss as at 31st Dec 2020 224 430 402 1,056 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Non lending financial assets impairment 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expected credit loss at 1st Jan 2020 17 - - 17 
Financial assets purchased and recognised 4 - - 4 
Financial assets sold and derecognised (1) - - (1)
Write-offs - - - - 
Change in credit risk 20 - - 20 
Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 

Expected credit loss as at 31st Dec 2020 40 - - 40 
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28 Financial risk management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

 
The following table further explains changes in the gross carrying amount to help explain their significance 
to the changes in the loss allowances as above: 

 
Other movements comprise of arrangment and legal fees being transferred to the carrying value of the loans. 

 

 
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Commitments impairment 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expected credit loss at 1st Jan 2020 7 4 - 11 
Commitments approved and recognised 158 8 - 166 
Commitments drawn and derecognised (23) (7) - (30)
Change in credit risk and model 37 3 - 40 
Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 

Commitments not proceeding - (1) - (1)
Expected credit loss as at 31st Dec 2020 179 7 - 186 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans and advances to customers 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Loans and advances to customers at 1st Jan 2020 156,393 20,346 2,915 179,654 
Loans drawn and recognised 41,321 2,689 - 44,010 
Loans repaid and derecognised (16,746) (3,012) (1,627) (21,385)
Interest charged 5,086 1,147 100 6,333 
Write-offs - - - - 
Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 9,815 (9,815) - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (20,648) 20,648 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - (444) 444 - 

Other movements (494) (81) - (575)
Loans and advances to customers at 31st Dec 2020 174,727 31,478 1,832 208,037 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Non lending financial assets 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Non lending financial assets at 1st Jan 2020 30,532 - - 30,532 
Financial assets purchased and recognised 25,440 - - 25,440 
Financial assets sold and derecognised (4,549) - - (4,549)
Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 

Other movements - - - - 
Non lending financial assets at 31st Dec 2020 51,423 - - 51,423 
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 28 Financial risk management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

 
 

Credit risk by asset class 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Commitments 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Commitments at 1st Jan 2020 47,810 580 - 48,390 
Commitments approved and recognised 44,365 1,015 - 45,380 
Commitments drawn and derecognised (26,598) (737) - (27,335)
Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (375) 375 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 

Commitments not proceeding (3,484) (322) - (3,806)
Commitments at 31st Dec 2020 61,718 911 - 62,629 

As at 31st Dec 2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Good quality 154,959 15,497 - 170,456 
Satisfactory quality 19,662 9,957 - 29,619 
Lower quality 106 6,024 1,029 7,159 
Below standard - - 803 803 
Gross carrying amount 174,727 31,478 1,832 208,037 
Expected credit loss (224) (430) (402) (1,056)
Carrying amount 174,503 31,048 1,430 206,981 

As at 31st Dec 2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Non lending financial assets 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Investment grade accounts 51,423 - - 51,423 
Non investment grade accounts - - - - 
Impaired - - - - 
Gross carrying amount 51,423 - - 51,423 
Expected credit loss (40) - - (40)
Carrying amount 51,383 - - 51,383 
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28 Financial risk management (continued) 

Credit risk by asset class (continued) 

 
 

Charity Bank uses an internal credit grading method considering financial, quality of income, qualitative and 
general factors. 

The table below categorises the levels of credit risk, this is determined separately for each asset. 

 
Age analysis of past-due and impaired assets 

The table below shows the age analysis of loans that are past-due and impaired assets. 

Past-due and impaired 

 
Charity Bank held security that fully covered the past-due and impaired values. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As at 31st Dec 2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Commitments 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Good quality 52,245 - - 52,245 
Satisfactory quality 9,405 733 - 10,138 
Lower quality 68 178 - 246 
Below standard - - - - 
Gross carrying amount 61,718 911 - 62,629 
Expected credit loss (179) (7) - (186)
Carrying amount 61,539 904 - 62,443 

Credit risk Internal credit grading Investment grading
Good quality A, B1, B2 Investment grade

Satisfactory quality C1, C2 Non Investment grade
Lower quality D, E

Below standard F

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Neither past-due or impaired 206,970 178,436 
Past-due
Within three months 10 26 
Over three months 28 47 
Total past-due 38 73 
Impaired 1,029 1,145 

208,037 179,654 
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28 Financial risk management (continued) 

Security against past-due and impaired 

 
Analysis of impaired loans and advances to customers 

Refer to note 14 for a detailed analysis of impairments. 

Credit exposure by sector 

  
The above sector analysis includes cash and balances at banks, financial assets, and loans and fees receivable. 

A proportion, 15% (31st December 2019: 10%) of Charity Bank’s total financial assets was to high quality financial 
institutions, the majority of which had external ratings of between A- and AA+. 

Liquidity risk 

Charity Bank is exposed to liquidity risk. The liquidity policy is reviewed at least annually by the ALCO before 
being reviewed by the Risk Committee, with final review and approval by the Board. 

The liquidity policy requires that sufficient HQLAs are held in a form and at a level which reflects prudent 
banking practice and regulatory criteria to meet funding requirements under normal and abnormal 
circumstances. In particular, under internal policies the required levels of HQLAs in approved investments are 
required to be higher than the minimum levels determined by prudential regulation. 

Currency profile 

As at the year-end, Charity Bank was not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

Instruments held for trading 

None of Charity Bank’s financial instruments are held for trading purposes and no trading book is held. 

Hedging 

Financial instruments are not held for hedging purposes. 

 

 

 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Neither past-due or impaired 611,596 559,594 
Past-due
Within three months - 425 
Over three months 1,175 2,750 
Total past-due 1,175 3,175 
Impaired 1,350 - 

614,121 562,769 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Banks 33,345 18,197 
Corporates 14,450 39,866 
Government 15,168 9,752 
Loans and advances to customers 206,981 179,025 
Other 2,915 2,173 

272,859 249,013 
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28 Financial risk management (continued) 

Market price risk 

Charity Bank is exposed to market price risk. Charity Bank’s investment portfolio consists of two distinct parts. 

The first part consists of investments in approved debt securities, principally high quality securities issued by 
the government or central Banks of a European Economic Area member state, or securities issued by 
multilateral development banks. These investments represent Charity Bank’s policy to invest in HQLAs in 
accordance with regulatory requirements.  

The second part, being the balance and representing liquidity that is over and above that held as HQLAs, is 
invested mainly in funds investing in debt securities. 

Both these sets of investments are subject to market price fluctuations in response to interest rate expectations 
and Charity Bank is therefore exposed to potential gains or losses on these investments. But the resulting price 
exposure is mitigated by policies requiring high credit rating for the holdings and their having relatively short 
maturity profiles. 

This exposure to the risk of adverse market price movements is mitigated by Charity Bank’s ability to sell some 
or all of its holding of a fund. For every 1% fall in market prices, the value of Charity Bank’s financial assets 
would fall by £118k (2019: £374k). These losses would be recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as they are classified as FVPL in accordance with IFRS 9.  

Categories of financial instruments 

The table below represents Charity Bank assets and liabilities carrying amounts, classified by the categories as 
defined in IFRS 9. 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Financial assets
Cash and balances at banks 32,110 16,921 
Financial assets at FVPL 11,843 37,376 
Financial assets at amortised cost 17,745 12,234 
Loans and advances to customers 206,981 179,025 
Other assets 1,528 1,359 

270,207 246,915 

Financial liabilities
Customer accounts 241,259 218,774 
Other liabilities 2,056 1,471 
Subordinated debt 5,827 5,752 

249,142 225,997 
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28 Financial risk management (continued) 

Fair values of financial instruments  

Set out below is a year-end comparison of carrying values and fair values of all the Charity Bank’s financial 
instruments by category. The fair values are determined as stated below. 

  
Basis of determination of fair values 

Cash and balances at banks: these consist of cash held in hand and balances held with other banks. The carrying 
amount of the cash balances is deemed to be a reasonable representation of the fair value. 

Financial Assets at FVPL: these comprise of OEIC. The basis of estimating the fair value of these assets is by 
ascertaining the market value as at the balance sheet date from quoted prices. As these financial assets are 
measured at fair value, the fair value is equal to the carrying value. 

Financial Assets at amortised cost: these comprise of financial assets. The basis of estimating the fair value of 
these assets is by ascertaining the market value as at the balance sheet date from quoted prices. 

Loans and advances to customers: these comprise of loans and other facilities granted to non-bank customers. 
The fair value is calculated based on cash flows discounted using a current lending rate. 

Customer accounts: these comprise deposits made with Charity Bank by all depositors. Fair value is calculated 
based on the present value of future payments of principal and interest cash flows. Given the majority of 
customer accounts are considered to be at current market rates, the carrying value generally approximates 
their fair value.  

Subordinated debt: as at 31st December 2020, there are two types of subordinated loan notes in issue. Both are 
long-term debt liabilities.  

One loan note is convertible at the request of the note holder into preference shares, which in turn Charity 
Bank automatically converts into ordinary shares, on the basis of one share per £1.00 of loan note.  

Whilst shareholders have the right to receive a dividend when one is declared, if a loan note holder converted 
the loan note into shares, they would no longer receive the coupon rate in the loan note. Subordinated notes 
are valued using a discounted cash flow technique. The discount factor is derived using management’s best 
estimate of what the market rate would be for a debt instrument with similar characteristics taking into account 
what the primary market is in which such instruments would be traded.  

 

 

Carrying value Carrying value Fair value Fair value

31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019 2020 2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets
Cash and balances at banks 32,110 16,921 32,110 16,921 
Financial assets at FVPL 11,843 37,376 11,843 37,376 
Financial assets at amortised cost 17,745 12,234 17,777 12,119 
Loans and advances to customers 206,981 179,025 226,352 188,141 
Other assets 1,528 1,359 1,527 1,359 

270,207 246,915 289,609 255,916 

Financial liabilities
Customer accounts 241,259 218,774 241,259 218,774 
Other liabilities 2,056 1,471 2,056 1,471 
Subordinated debt 5,827 5,752 4,268 4,277 

249,142 225,997 247,583 224,522 
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28 Financial risk management (continued) 

Fair value measurement recognised in the statement of financial position 

The following tables provide an analysis of financial instruments for Charity Bank that are measured subsequent 
to initial recognition at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss. These are grouped into Levels 1 to 
3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:  

 Level 1 – fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2 – fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices). 

 Level 3 – fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for 
the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  

 
 

 
 

 

Level 1 Level 2 Level  3 Total
As at 31st December 2020 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Financial assets
Amortised cost
Loans and advances to customers - - 226,352 226,352 
Financial assets 17,745 - - 17,745 

Fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets 11,843 - - 11,843 

29,588 - 226,352 255,940 

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost
Customer accounts - 241,259 - 241,259 
Subordinated liabilities - - 4,268 4,268 

- 241,259 4,268 245,527 

Level 1 Level 2 Level  3 Total
As at 31st December 2019 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Financial assets
Amortised cost
Loans and advances to customers - - 188,141 188,141 
Financial assets 12,234 - - 12,234 

Fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets 37,376 - - 37,376 

49,610 - 188,141 237,751 

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost
Customer accounts - 218,774 - 218,774 
Subordinated liabilities - - 4,160 4,160 

- 218,774 4,160 222,934 
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28 Financial risk management (continued) 

Capital risk 

Charity Bank’s Capital Resources at the year-end were as follows: 

 
29 Post balance sheet events 

On 24th February 2021, £500k of the future share capital included in note 20 was recognised as share capital, 
the new shareholder is The Samworth Foundation and they purchased 595,664 new ordinary shares. The 
remaining balance of £250k within future share capital not recognised yet as at the balance sheet date is in a 
savings account until the formalities have been completed. 

On 9th March 2021, Barrow Cadbury Trust (an existing shareholder) invested a further £500k purchasing 597,872 
new ordinary shares. On 12th April, £1m was received from the Garfield Weston Foundation for the purchase 
of new ordinary shares and is being processed. 

In March 2021, Charity Bank disinvested the balance of our OEIC from RLAM (the value of the investments when 
sold was £11.8m, the profit from the sale was £54.8k) with the proceeds being transferred to our BOE account. 
The reason for the disinvestment was due to decreasing returns and inefficiency when risk weighted assets and 
capital requirements were taken into consideration. 

No adjustment has been made to the financial statements for these transactions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31st Dec 31st Dec
2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Tier 1
Prudent valuation impact (12) (37)
IFRS9 Transitional relief 97 117
Intangible assets (1,481) (1,101)
Ordinary share capital 12,509 12,373 
Retained earnings 3,738 3,405 
Share premium 4,657 4,563 
Total Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1) 19,508 19,320 
Additional Tier 1 - - 
Total Tier 1 capital 19,508 19,320 
Tier 2 capital
Subordinated loan notes 3,730 3,374 
Total Tier 2 capital 3,730 3,374 
Total capital resources 23,238 22,694 
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Country by country reporting 

The Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 came into effect on 1 January 2014 
and place certain reporting obligations on financial institutions within the scope of the Capital Requirements 
Directive (CRD IV). All of the activities of the Bank are conducted in the United Kingdom and therefore 100% of 
the total income, profit before tax and tax paid as well as employee figures disclosed in note 8 are related to 
the United Kingdom. The Bank has not received any public subsidies. 
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Independent auditors’ report to the directors of The 
Charity Bank Limited 

Report on the audit of the country-by-country information 

Opinion 

In our opinion, The Charity Bank Limited’s country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2020 has 
been properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the Capital Requirements 
(Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. 

We have audited the country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2020 in the Annual Report. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”), including ISA 
(UK) 800 and ISA (UK) 805, and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the 
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information section of our report. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the country-by-country information in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to public 
interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Emphasis of matter - Basis of preparation 

In forming our opinion on the country-by-country information, which is not modified, we draw attention to the 
relevant note of the country-by-country information which describes the basis of preparation. The country-by-country 
information is prepared for the directors for the purpose of complying with the requirements of the Capital 
Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. The country-by-country information has therefore 
been prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework and, as a result, the country-by-country information 
may not be suitable for another purpose. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting included: 
 

● Evaluation of management’s going concern assessment;  
● Evaluation of management’s financial forecasts and management’s stress testing of liquidity and regulatory 

capital, including the severity of the stress scenarios and assumptions that were used; 
● Evaluation of the degree to which the impact of COVID-19 has been reflected in the company’s financial plans 

and going concern assessment; and 
● Substantiation of liquid resources held, for example at the Bank of England. 

 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the country-by-country information is 
authorised for issue. 
 
In auditing the country-by-country information, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the country-by-country information is appropriate. 
 
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report. 
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Reporting on other information  

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the country-by-country 
information and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on 
the country-by-country information does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the country-by-country information, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the country-by-country 
information or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an 
apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude 
whether there is a material misstatement of the country-by-country information or a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. 

Responsibilities for the country-by-country information and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the country-by-country information 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the country-by-country information in accordance with the 
requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 as explained in the basis 
of preparation and accounting policies in the relevant note to the country-by-country information, and for 
determining that the basis of preparation and accounting policies are acceptable in the circumstances. The directors 
are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of country-by-
country information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the country-by-country information, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information 

It is our responsibility to report on whether the country-by-country information has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the relevant requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 
2013. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the country-by-country information as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this country-by-country information.  

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in 
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including 
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below. 
 
Based on our understanding of the company/industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with 
laws and regulations related to breaches of the rules of the Financial Conduct Authority, Prudential Regulatory 
Authority, UK tax legislation and equivalent laws and regulations applicable to the company, and we considered the 
extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the country-by-country information. We also 
considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the country-by-country information such as 
applicable tax legislation and the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. We 
evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the country-by-country 
information (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting 
inappropriate journals, and management bias through judgments and assumptions in significant accounting 
estimates. Audit procedures performed included: 
 

● Making enquiries of management and those charged with governance in relation to known or suspected 
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud;  

● Reviewing key correspondence with the Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation Authority;  
● Challenging assumptions and judgments made by management in their significant accounting estimates, in 

particular in relation to the impairment of loans and advances (see related key audit matter below); 
● Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted by senior management or with 

unusual account combinations; and . 
● Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing. 
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There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of 
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected 
in the country-by-country information. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher 
than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, 
forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the company’s directors in accordance with the 
Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 and for no other purpose. We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 
is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
23 April 2021 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

T: +44 (0) 2075 835 000, F: +44 (0) 2072 127 500, www.pwc.co.uk 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England with registered number OC303525.  The registered office of  

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is 1 Embankment Place, London WC2N 6RH.  PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority for designated 
investment business. 
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Directors, Committees and Advisers  

 
  

Registered Office Board of Directors Executive Management Committee
Fosse House, 182 High Street Alan Hodson (Chair) Edward Siegel (CEO)
Tonbridge Jonathan Britton OBE (from 30th June 2020) Malcolm Elliott
Kent TN9 1BE Michael Crabb Mark Howland (from 1st March 2020)
Tel: 01732 441900 David Godfrey CBE Caspar Mackay
Email:  enquiries@charitybank.org Neil Heslop OBE - a connected Director (from 16th Thomas Ralph (from 5th October 2020)
Website:   www.charitybank.org December 2020) Carolyn Sims

Caroline Price (from 22nd September 2020) Michael Southwell (from 26th October 2020)
Registered Company No. 4330018 Charlotte Ravenscroft (from 30th June 2020)
PRA No. 207701 Anna Shiel - a connected Director Internal Credit Committee

Edward Siegel CEO
Independent Auditors Toby Walter - a connected Director Credit Department Representatives:
Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP - Director of Credit,
Statutory Auditor Audit Committee - Senior Credit Manager
7 More London Riverside Jonathan Britton OBE (Chair) (from 30th June 2020) - Loans Administration Manager
London SE1 2RT David Godfrey CBE Banking Department Representatives:

Caroline Price (from 22nd September 2020) - Director of Lending and a nominee
Principal Banker Alternate Members:
NatWest (National Westminister Bank) Risk Committee - CRO
Newcastle-under-lyme David Godfrey CBE (Chair) - Finance Director
ST5 0QX Jonathan Britton OBE (from 30th June 2020) Quorum of 3: comprising Chair plus CEO or Banking 

Michael Crabb Banking Department Representative plus one other
Investment Manager Anna Shiel - a connected Director
Royal London Asset Management Super Internal Credit Committee
55 Gracechurch Street Governance Committee As per the Internal Credit Committee
London EC3V 0RL Alan Hodson (Chair) (from 23rd September 2020) Plus one Non-Executive Director (chosen from the NED panel)

David Godfrey CBE (from 27th October 2020)
Toby Walter - a connected Director
(from 27th October 2020) Assets & Liabilities Committee

Thomas Ralph (from 5th October 2020)
Edward Siegel
Michael Southwell (from 26th October 2020)
Kirstie Smith
Susan Terblanche
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